







IMF Macroeconomic Research on Low-Income Countries

IMF Macroeconomic Research on Low-Income Countries

IMF Macroeconomic Research on Low-Income Countries

Prepared by the Fiscal Affairs, Policy Development and Review, and Research Departments

With input from the African, Asia and Pacific, European, Middle East and Central Asia, and Western Hemisphere Departments

International Monetary Fund 2003

©2003 International Monetary Fund

ISBN: 1-58906-273-6

Production: IMF Multimedia Services Division Cover design: Lai Oy Louie Cover photographs: Art Explosion (far left, far right); ©IMF photos (center left, center right) Typesetting: Alpha 60 Design

To order additional copies of this pamphlet or a catalog of IMF publications, please contact:

International Monetary Fund, Publication Services 700 19th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20431, U.S.A. Tel.: (202) 623-7430 Telefax: (202) 623-7201 E-mail: publications@imf.org

Internet: http://www.imf.org

This paper and most of the IMF publications that are cited are available free on the web at http://www.imf.org

Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	The Forward-Looking Analytical Work Program on Macroeconomic Issues
3.	Synopsis of Recent IMF Research on Low-Income
	Countries
	The Determinants of Growth and Poverty 15
	Fiscal Policy and Poverty Reduction 24
	External Sector Policies and Poverty Reduction 26
	Monetary, Exchange Policy, and Financial
	Market Issues
	Structural Reforms and Poverty Reduction 30
	Accessing Private Capital Markets34
	Other Issues
4.	Bibliography
	Determinants of Growth and Poverty 46
	Fiscal Policy and Poverty Reduction 57
	External Sector Policies and Poverty Reduction 65
	Monetary, Exchange Policy, and Financial
	Market Issues
	Structural Reforms and Poverty Reduction 85
	Accessing Private Capital Markets91
	Other Issues

1

Introduction

The Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper (PRSP) approach has been broadly accepted as the operational framework for bringing together national policies and development assistance in support of low-income countries' efforts to meet the Millennium Development Goals. The IMF, the World Bank, and other multilateral and bilateral development agencies are now committed to using the PRSP operational framework to support low-income countries; and the IMF is aligning the content and process of its operations to reflect this commitment.

It is well recognized, however, that more analytical work is needed over the medium term on issues related to the PRSP approach. In March 2002, the World Bank and the IMF jointly reviewed the PRSP approach, and the IMF reviewed the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (PRGF). Significant knowledge gaps were identified in the development, implementation, and monitoring of national poverty reduction strategies. To address these gaps, the IMF has taken the lead on macroeconomic policy research. The Fund has undertaken a comprehensive research program within its areas of particular competence, and it is helping to coordinate related research by other partners.

INTRODUCTION

A two-stage process has been developed. First, the IMF, the World Bank, and the government of the United Kingdom hosted a technical workshop in April 2003 on macroeconomic issues related to the PRSP approach. The workshop brought together participants from low-income countries, bilateral and multilateral donors, academia, and civil society. They discussed and drafted guidance on selected issues. The workshop also provided a forum to identify priority research topics over the medium term. Second, the IMF and the Bank will convene an international research conference in 2004 on macroeconomic management in low-income countries. This forum will allow development partners, including IMF staff, to share preliminary results on topics identified at the technical workshop.

Overview

This pamphlet provides a summary of the forward-looking analytical work program that has evolved and is evolving through this process (Section 2). Partners, policymakers, and economic scholars who work in these areas are strongly encouraged to share their perspectives and findings through respective team leaders, whose e-mail addresses are provided. In parallel, the staff are developing a web page to serve as an informational centerpoint for this broad effort. The site will be updated periodically in order to report on progress and to share preliminary results of the ongoing research.

Section 3, "Synopsis of Recent IMF Research on Low-Income Countries," summarizes seven streams of analytical work. Section 4 contains a bibliography—nearly 1,000 papers—primarily by IMF researchers.

For Further Information

Many IMF publications—whether or not they are referenced here—can be downloaded free from the IMF public website (http://www.imf.org/external/pubind.htm). Alternatively, they can be ordered in hard copy from IMF Publication Services (see page ii for contact information); prices are available on the website and from IMF Publication Services.

The Forward-Looking IMF Analytical Work Program on Macroeconomic Issues

The IMF is carrying out an extensive research program to examine key macroeconomic issues that confront low-income countries in the design and implementation of their national poverty reduction strategies. Drawing on findings from the 2002 joint World Bank–IMF review of the Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper approach and the IMF review of the Poverty Reduction Growth Facility, research projects are planned and under way in five priority areas:

- Improving growth outcomes,
- Assessing the macroeconomic impact of larger aid flows,
- Addressing vulnerability and exogenous shocks,
- Assessing debt sustainability,
- Accessing private capital markets.

Improving Growth Outcomes

Increasing and sustaining growth is essential for poverty reduction. The research program will look into the role of macroeconomic policies in generating growth, as well as specific channels that transmit macroeconomic policies into growth.

Sources of and Obstacles to Growth

Four studies will examine sources of and obstacles to growth. First, "Sources of Growth in Sub-Saharan African Countries, 1970–2002" will analyze sub-Saharan African countries using a growth accounting framework. The paper will investigate stylized facts about factor accumulation versus productivity growth. Literature on the sources of growth in developing countries has focused primarily on Asia and Latin America. This study will attempt to fill the knowledge gap concerning sub-Saharan African countries.

 African Department Dhaneshwar Ghura (dghura@imf.org)

Following sharp declines in activity during the early years of transition, many low-income Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) countries recorded rapid growth. "Explaining the Growth Surge in the CIS-7" will detail the sources of each country's recent growth from both the supply- and the demand-side perspectives. A traditional growth accounting framework points to sharp turnaround in total factor productivity. Does this indicate a fundamental improvement in productivity in response to structural reforms, or is the surge explained through specific factors, such as linkages to the booming oil-exporting economies in the region?

• European Department
David O. Robinson (drobinson2@imf.org)
Elena Loukoianova (eloukoianova@imf.org)

"Achieving Sustainable Growth and Poverty Reduction in Nicaragua" will comprise several self-contained substudies on policies leading to sustainable growth and poverty reduction in Nicaragua, including sources of growth, fiscal

THE FORWARD-LOOKING IMF ANALYTICAL WORK PROGRAM

sustainability, external and domestic debt sustainability, financial sector reform, and others.

• Western Hemisphere Department Marco Piñón (*mpinonfarah@imf.org*)

"Is There Hope for a Poor Country? The Case of Nicaragua" will focus on structural barriers to growth in Nicaragua, including institutional weaknesses and the role of external aid. The paper will address the question: Why is Nicaragua still among the poorest of countries in the Americas despite generous support from the donor community?

 Western Hemisphere Department Oscar Melhado (omelhado@imf.org)

Transmission Channels Through Which Macroeconomic Policies Influence Growth

Five studies will explore the specific transmission channels through which key macroeconomic policies influence growth. "Fiscal Policy and Growth in Low-Income Countries: An Examination of Transmission Channels" will scrutinize the links between fiscal stance and growth. Fiscal consolidation has been demonstrated in general to be good for growth in the short and long run; this study will examine the channels through which such growth occurs. Is the impact of fiscal consolidation on growth due to its impact on inflation? Does fiscal consolidation have favorable effects on interest rates and the availability of credit to the private sector, thereby triggering higher private investment?

Fiscal Affairs Department
 Arye Hillman (ahillman@imf.org)
 Emanuele Baldacci (ebaldacci@imf.org)
 Naoko Kojo (nkojo@imf.org)

A companion study, "Impact of Tax Policy on Growth in Low-Income Countries," will explore several questions. Does a shift from trade to domestic taxes spur growth? Does a change in the composition of taxes from direct to indirect taxation have a positive or negative effect? What is the relationship between tax effort and growth? Do distortionary tax systems, as measured by the number of exemptions and the level of marginal tax rates, hamper growth? Does administrative simplicity of the tax system—proxied, for example, by the number of income tax rates—have a bearing on growth? These and related questions will be addressed by regressing the annual rate of real per capita GDP growth on a set of regressors, including variables measuring the composition of revenues and other control variables.

• Fiscal Affairs Department
Benedict Clements (bclements@imf.org)

"External Public Debt and Growth in Low-Income Countries" will assess the debt-growth nexus in low-income countries, including heavily indebted poor countries (HIPCs). Recent work by IMF staff suggests that excessive external debt may hamper growth, yet little evidence has been provided on the transmission channels. For example, does public debt service divert budgetary resources from the public investment necessary to stimulate growth? Is it debt service that matters in explaining the relationship between debt and growth, or the net present value (NPV) of debt? These and related questions will be explored through a structural econometric model.

Fiscal Affairs Department
 Benedict Clements (bclements@imf.org)
 Rina Bhattacharya (rbhattacharya@imf.org)

"Channels Through Which External Debt Affects Growth" will explore empirically the extent to which external debt affects growth through capital accumulation or total factor productivity (TFP) growth. Following up on earlier research, this project will examine whether debt has nonlinear impacts on capital accumulation or TFP growth. Next, the project will examine the main channels for the impact of debt on income, capital, or TFP growth—for example, whether external debt affects these variables by influencing the stance of policies, levels of corruption, infrastructure, or the public/private investment mix. The study will explore such questions using panel data for a large set of developing countries.

• Research Department Catherine Pattillo (cpattillo@imf.org)

Finally, "IMF Financial Programs and Economic Growth: What Is the Link?" will examine whether achievement of the policy targets will lead to the growth and inflation outcomes that underpin those targets within the financial programming framework. By showing which policy targets matter and how, the results could have important implications for policy design. This analysis will also illuminate factors behind debt unsustainability and IMF lending (see "Assessing Debt Sustainability," below).

Research Department
 Rodney Ramcharan (rramcharan@imf.org)
 Ratna Sahay (rsahay@imf.org)
 Reza Baqir (rbaqir@imf.org)

Assessing the Macroeconomic Consequences of Aid

Countries with sound poverty reduction strategies and public expenditure management systems should benefit from these flows under the PRSP approach. In most countries, greater aid flows can easily be absorbed. However, rapidly increased concessional flows sometimes have negative macroeconomic consequences. Research in this area will therefore assess how monetary and exchange rate policies should respond to increased aid inflows and the effects of debt and grant aid on key macroeconomic variables.

Foreign aid inflows affect the growth of a recipient economy through various channels. "How Monetary and Exchange Rate Policy Should Respond (or Not) to Increased Aid Inflows" will develop a framework that accounts for both productivity-enhancing effects (such as human capital formation) and adverse effects ("Dutch disease") of official development assistance. The framework takes into account the timing of disbursements and the composition of aid. The project will discuss whether sterilizing the monetary impact of aid inflows is appropriate and how this policy should take into account the degree of concessionality of aid flows and the possible crowding out of investment. A novel measure of real exchange rates—based on black-market rates—is used. Preliminary results suggest, first, that large foreign aid inflows are generally associated with real exchange rate appreciation and, second, that the appreciation takes place mainly in the parallel exchange market. The findings also show that sterilization significantly reduces the real exchange rate appreciation associated with foreign aid inflows.

Research Department
 Alessandro Prati (aprati@imf.org)
 Ratna Sahay (rsahay@imf.org)
 Thierry Tressel (ttressel@imf.org)

"Exchange Rate Flexibility and the Monetary Management of Aid Flows in Africa" will focus on selected African countries where money-based stabilization programs in the 1990s succeeded in bringing inflation to relatively low levels while maintaining a market-determined exchange rate. The paper

THE FORWARD-LOOKING IMF ANALYTICAL WORK PROGRAM

focuses on highly persistent shocks to aid flows, including PRSP-related increases in net flows. Such shocks have beneficent long-run effects; but when the substitutability between domestic and foreign currencies is relatively high, they can produce dramatic, short-run macroeconomic management problems. The question, then, is: What is the appropriate mix of money and exchange rate targeting and the role of temporary sterilization? The study develops an intertemporal optimizing model in which the budgetary contribution of aid may be partly spent and partly devoted to reducing the government's seigniorage requirement. Preliminary results indicate that when the credibility of policymakers' commitment to low inflation is firm, the most attractive short-run approach appears to be some degree of "dirty floating" along with partial sterilization of increases in the monetary base.

• Research Department Catherine Pattillo (cpattillo@imf.org)

"Debt Relief, Additionality, and Aid Allocation in Low-Income Countries" will provide empirical analysis on whether debt relief crowds out other aid flows. It asks whether debt relief has had a significant impact on the overall level of resource transfers from official donors as a group. Using an aid allocation model, the paper compares the experiences of countries receiving debt relief from IDAonly with countries that have not.

• African Department Robert Powell (rpowell@imf.org)

"Grants Versus Loans" will analyze the trade-offs faced by international development agencies when determining the grant component of an aid package. The project will assess how recipient countries' characteristics and policy environments influence the relative effectiveness of grants versus loans in promoting growth.

Research Department
 Tito Cordella (tcordella@imf.org)
 Ratna Sahay (rsahay@imf.org)
 Hulya Ulku (hulku@imf.org)

"Conditional Aid, Sovereign Debt, and Debt Relief" asks whether debt relief is the best instrument for raising consumption by the poor in HIPCs. To answer this question, the project will develop a model of conditional aid based on a "contract" between altruistic donors concerned with consumption by the poor and recipient governments representing the interests of those who are well off. This implicit contract is played out over an infinite horizon and is supported by threats of punishment for deviation. The research will examine how debt relief in an optimal conditional-aid relationship can reduce the welfare of the poor. The framework will offer new explanations of why aid flows can be procyclical and why donors who are themselves debt-holders continue to provide aid without granting debt relief.

Research Department
 Tito Cordella (tcordella@imf.org)
 Giovanni Dell'Ariccia (gdellariccia@imf.org)
 Ken Kletzer (University of California at Santa Barbara)

Addressing Vulnerability and Exogenous Shocks

Macroeconomic research in this area examines how commodity prices affect exchange rate fluctuations and the design of inflation targets in commodity-dependent low-income countries. "How Monetary and Exchange Rate Policies Should Take Into Account Commodity Prices and Terms of Trade Shocks" has thus far focused on identifying countries with "commodity currencies"—meaning countries where real

exchange rates are chiefly determined by movements in the real prices of their commodity exports. For countries with commodity currencies—most of which are low-income countries—commodity prices can be a useful benchmark signaling that exchange rates have deviated excessively from their equilibrium value. In addition, policymakers in commodity-currency countries can use information on spot or futures prices to guide monetary policy. Subsequent research on commodity-dependent countries will examine the efficacy of alternative nominal exchange rate anchors, especially the use of spot (world) commodity prices, and the role of commodity prices in inflation targeting when commodity-dependent countries wish to move toward greater flexibility in their nominal exchange rates.

• Research Department Paul Cashin (pcashin@imf.org)

"Identifying Vulnerabilities in CIS Countries" will take stock of the peculiar features of the CIS economies and will identify their vulnerabilities to specific shocks. The emphasis in the general literature on volatile short-term capital flows and banking sector fragility is less relevant in CIS countries because of their typically small banking sectors and the absence of links to the international capital market. Instead, these countries are prone to commodity-price shocks (especially oil), economic downturn in Russia, and domestic shocks related to political crisis, the weather, and so forth, which are exacerbated by their structural and institutional rigidities. The impact of the 1998 Russian crisis will be explored and might provide useful evidence. The study may also construct hypothetical scenarios of the processes that lead to full-blown crises.

 Research Department and European Department Ratna Sahay (rsahay@imf.org)
 José Fajgenbaum (jfajgenbaum@imf.org)
 Francesco Luna (fluna@imf.org)

Assessing Debt Sustainability

Higher aid flows in support of poverty reduction can affect the debt sustainability of low-income countries, and overly optimistic projections regarding growth and export can paint a distorted picture of whether it can be sustained. The IMF research program in this area will develop a debt sustainability framework and will assess overoptimism in the projections that underpin sustainability analyses.

"Debt Sustainability in Low-Income Countries" will discuss how the framework recently adopted by the IMF for middleand upper-income countries can be adapted to low-income countries. The framework for low-income countries will cover issues of both external sector sustainability and fiscal sustainability, examining how sustainability can be achieved on both fronts. Creating such a framework presents a number of analytical challenges, considering the marked differences between low- and middle-income economies. The former are characterized by limited access to private capital markets, highly concessional debt that is usually at interest rates far below projected growth, and heavy reliance on primary commodities exports. Consequently, debt sustainability analysis for low-income countries should cover a longer projection period in order to capture the implications of future graduation from highly concessional assistance. The study will apply the new framework to several countries. Stress tests will be used to demonstrate the effects of shocks (for example, lower-than-expected commodity prices or economic growth) on external and fiscal sustainability. The paper will also discuss how official financing in a post-HIPC setting could broadly affect debt sustainability.

Fiscal Affairs Department
 Emanuele Baldacci (ebaldacci@imf.org)
 Kevin Fletcher (kfletcher2@imf.org)

Accessing Private Capital Markets

The ability to tap into private credit markets is decisively determined by a country's vulnerability to shocks and the perceived quality of its policies. IMF research on accessing private capital markets will examine these key determinants of low-income countries' access to credit markets.

"Private Capital Market Access by Developing Countries: The Role of Policies and Vulnerability" will employ detailed data on sovereign bond issuances and public syndicated bank loans since the outset of the Latin American debt crisis in 1982. In addition to covering factors traditionally in the literature, this project will investigate the importance of vulnerability—with regard to terms-of-trade shocks, for example—in determining credit constraints. In examining the role of government policies, this study will go beyond previous research by using, first, a comprehensive, detailed data set on the quality of government policies and, second, a panel approach that controls for fixed country characteristics and time-varying global conditions.

 Research Department Gaston Gelos (ggelos@imf.org) Ratna Sahay (rsahay@imf.org)

"Overcoming Financial Market Deficiencies in Sub-Saharan Africa" will look at financial market deficiencies in sub-Saharan Africa. The paper will examine efforts worldwide to overcome institutional and regulatory hindrances to financial services in rural areas and access to credit by small and medium-sized enterprises.

• African Department Lelde Schmitz (lschmitz@imf.org)

Synopsis of Recent IMF Research on Low-Income Countries

The Determinants of Growth and Poverty

IMF studies on the determinants of growth and poverty in low-income countries cover a broad range of themes, though almost all share an empirical approach to research. These studies broadly explore issues of income distribution, social safety nets, and productivity. Several papers have focused more narrowly on growth in sub-Saharan Africa—in particular, the relationship between HIV/AIDS and economic growth. Relatively fewer have dealt with the subject of savings and investment.

Growth

Papers on the subject of growth can be grouped into three categories:

- Cross-country studies, which use large data sets to analyze a number of factors in relation to economic growth,
- Regional studies,
- Individual country studies, which often test a specific model or take on a particular growth-performance puzzle.

Among cross-country studies, several have examined the relationship between inflation and growth. Both Sarel (1995) and Khan and Senhadji (2000a) find threshold effects with inflation rates above 7 to 11 percent lowering growth. Ghosh and Phillips (1998) show that the negative relationship between inflation and growth holds at all but the lowest inflation rates. They find that short-run growth costs of disinflation are relevant only for the most severe disinflations or where initial inflation is well within the single-digit range.

Several papers look at the relationship between growth and the availability of resources or financing (that is, foreign exchange from natural resource production, external debt, foreign direct investment, or financial development). For example, Leite and Weidmann (1999) show that the growth effects of both natural resources and corruption depend on an economy's state of development. Pattillo, Poirson, and Ricci (2002) find that external debt has nonlinear effects on growth. Borensztein, De Gregorio, and Lee (1994) demonstrate that the contribution of foreign direct investment (FDI) to economic growth is enhanced by the level of human capital in the host country. Khan and Senhadji (2000b) find that the size of the effect of financial development on growth varies among indicators of financial development. An interesting recent paper by Gupta, Clements, and others (2002a) shows that fiscal consolidation is generally associated with higher growth, both in the short and long term, and that the composition of spending also matters for growth.

Among regional studies, several examine macroeconomic factors and growth for sub-Saharan Africa using cross-country data from different periods. Calamitsis, Basu, and Ghura (1999) show that growth in sub-Saharan Africa is positively influenced by policies that increase private investment, promote human capital development, lower budget deficits,

safeguard external competitiveness, and stimulate export growth.

Turning from macroeconomic policies to institutions and uncertainty, Hernández-Catá (2000) concludes that growth in sub-Saharan Africa has been hampered by economic distortions and institutional deficiencies that have increased the risk of investing and have lowered productivity. The region-wide findings on the importance of human capital are challenged by Sacerdoti, Brunschwig, and Tang (1998), who find that private capital—but not human capital—is particularly important for growth in West Africa. Berthélemy and Söderling (2002) use a model stressing labor reallocation and economic diversification to simulate future growth scenarios for a group of African countries. They conclude that Africa is unlikely to reach "Asian tiger" levels of growth. Iwata, Khan, and Murao (2002) assess the sources of growth in East Asia.

On the impact of growth on poverty, a recent paper by Moser and Ichida (2001) confirms a strong and robust relationship between economic growth and poverty reduction in sub-Saharan Africa. For the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), Dhonte, Bhattacharya, and Yousef (2000) discuss growth implications of the demographic transition, while Eken, Helbling, and Mazarei (1997) argue that fiscal reform is key for fostering growth. Also, Abed (2003) explores why the Middle East and North Africa has lagged in growth and benefit from globalization despite the natural resources of that region.

Among single-country studies, several analyze particular growth puzzles. Zettelmeyer (1998), for example, seeks to explain Uzbekistan's mild "transformational recession" and recovery. Subramanian and Roy (2001) find that existing explanations of the "Mauritian miracle" may be incomplete, although institutional stories are somewhat promising. Aziz

and Duenwald (2002) show that financial development played a minor role in China's post-1978 growth, as the nonstate sector and faster-growing provinces made only minimal use of the domestic financial system. Khan (2002a) uses Pakistan and Malaysia as case studies in deriving conclusions on whether growth helps the poor.

Other papers test particular models. Morales (1998) develops an error-correction model of growth in El Salvador, with structural factors affecting technology and macroeconomic factors explaining deviation from long-run trends. Ghura's (1997) endogenous growth model for Cameroon shows positive externalities generated by human and physical capital accumulation. Beddies (1999) finds similar results for Gambia. Söderling (2002) uses a computable general equilibrium model to demonstrate Gabon's dependence on private foreign financing in the face of a decline in oil production, its main source of growth.

In addition, some studies look at the growth impact of a particular factor. Cashin and Sahay (1996) examine growth across the states of India. They find evidence of absolute convergence—initially poor states grew faster than their initially rich counterparts. Finally, Akitoby and Cinyabuguma (2003) analyze the sources of economic growth in the Democratic Republic of the Congo during 1960–2000. They find that macroeconomic policies play a strong role in explaining economic growth.

Poverty, Income Distribution, and Social Safety Nets

The IMF Fiscal Affairs Department has produced substantial work on poverty-reducing expenditure, as discussed below in "Fiscal Policy and Poverty Reduction." This section highlights papers on

- Cross-country studies on macroeconomic determinants of poverty and income inequality,
- Country-level studies on poverty and microeconomic determinants of inequality, and
- Theoretical papers modeling macroeconomic and structural factors and poverty, several of which highlight the role of human capital.

Among cross-country studies, Cashin and others (2001) survey the literature on the links between macroeconomic policies and poverty reduction; they explore the association of measures of well-being with macroeconomic factors. Bulíř (1998) shows that inflation exacerbates income inequality. Chu, Davoodi, and Gupta (2000) conclude that governments have not been able to use tax and transfer policies to reduce income inequality, and though social spending tends to be progressive, it is generally not well targeted. Gupta, Davoodi, and Alonso-Terme (2002) provide evidence that corruption increases inequality and poverty. Their findings are robust to several instruments that measure corruption. A recent paper by Ghura, Leite, and Tsangarides (2002) identifies four "super pro-poor" policies—that is, policies that directly influence poverty after accounting for the effect of growth, inflation, government size, education, and financial development. Holden and Prokopenko (2001) explore policy issues relating to financial development and poverty alleviation. Khan (2000) explores rural poverty. Tanzi (1998) examines the role of government in influencing inequality. Eken, Robalino, and Schieber (2003) provide a regional perspective on what is needed to raise living standards in the Middle East and North Africa.

Country-level studies include an interesting paper by McDonald, Schiller, and Ueda (1999), which shows that regional and urban-rural disparities, as well as education differences, explain Uganda's increasing inequality. Aziz (2002) focuses on state-level poverty trends in India—an important success case in poverty reduction—and finds that the greater success in reducing poverty in some states in the 1990s was due, in part, to higher growth and lower inflation. Thomas and Canagarajah (2002) decompose a decline in Nigeria's poverty rate into growth and income distribution factors. Clements (1997b) analyzes the impact of Brazil's macroeconomic stabilization program of the mid-1990s (Plano Real) on poverty and income distribution. Also of interest, Jung and Thorbecke (2001) appraise the impact of public expenditure on human capital on distributional outcomes in a multisector Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) model for Tanzania and Zambia.

There are several theoretical papers modeling macroeconomic and structural factors. Among them are Chand and Shome (1995), who set up a general financial programming model to explore the impact of policies on a poverty index. Chander (2001) presents a framework for characterizing the optimal pattern of subsidies for poverty alleviation under budgetary constraints. Sectoral and structural issues are explored in Masson (2001), who shows how an urban poverty trap can develop from a combination of rural-urban migration and costly skill acquisition. Finally, two conferences at the IMF dealt with the impact of macroeconomic policies on income distribution and poverty. The proceedings were published in Tanzi and Chu (1998) and Tanzi, Chu, and Gupta (1999).

Another set of papers deals with the impact of macroeconomic crises on poverty and countervailing effects of social safety net measures (for example, Chu and Gupta, 1996, 1998, and Gupta and others, 1998). Lessons and guidelines on social safety nets are also discussed in a joint paper by the staffs of the World Bank, the Asian Development Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, and IMF (2001). Baldacci, de Mello, and Inchauste-Comboni (2002) explore the impact of financial crisis on the incidence of poverty and income distribution. They find that targeted safety nets and protecting specific social programs against fiscal retrenchment are effective short-term, pro-poor policy responses during a financial crisis.

Productivity

An important contribution in the area of productivity is Coe, Helpman, and Hoffmaister (1994). They show that developing countries can increase their productivity by trading with industrial countries that have large "stocks of knowledge" from research and development activities. Across countries, Choudhri and Hakura (2000) find that increased import competition in medium- (but not in lowor high-) growth manufacturing sectors enhances overall productivity growth. Senhadji (1999) finds that macroeconomic policies help to explain cross-country differences in total factor productivity (TFP) levels. Mengistae and Pattillo (2002) analyze firm-level data from three African countries. They find that exporters are more productive than producers of nontradables and, moreover, particularly high productivity premiums are received by direct exporters and exporters outside Africa (a finding that could be consistent with learning-by-exporting effects). In an interesting country-level study, Jonsson and Subramanian (2000) demonstrate a significant positive relationship between trade and TFP growth in South Africa. Finally, Senhadji (2002) focuses on the growth accounting framework and reviews recent IMF research on the subject.

HIV/AIDS

The IMF African Department has prepared several research papers on the macroeconomic impact of HIV/AIDS, and many staff economic assessments have highlighted its importance. Together with other departments, institutions, and international organizations, the African Department is preparing a comprehensive study on macroeconomic aspects of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Preliminary results will be published in May 2004.

Analytical work on HIV/AIDS includes papers on its macroeconomic impact in Botswana (MacFarlan and Sgherri, 2001), the demand for HIV/AIDS-related health services (Haacker, 2001), the broad macroeconomic consequences of HIV/AIDS (Haacker, 2002a), the role of dual labor markets and returns to capital in modeling the impact of HIV/AIDS on output and income (Haacker, 2002b), and the welfare implications of HIV/AIDS (Haacker and Crafts, 2003). Also, the *World Economic Outlook* (October 2000) covered the macroeconomic impact of HIV/AIDS in some detail. Overall, this research highlights the very adverse impact of HIV/AIDS on all aspects of the economy, including economic growth, the fiscal balance, the sustainability of external debt, and income distribution.

Savings and Investment

There are relatively few studies on savings. Two interesting papers develop theoretical models and test their predictions with developing country data. To analyze the relationship between temporary terms of trade shocks and private savings, Ostry and Reinhart (1992) estimate values of the intertemporal elasticity of substitution between traded and nontraded goods. Ogaki, Ostry, and Reinhart (1995) find support in the data for a model implying very different re-

sponses of private saving to real interest shocks, depending on the level of development. Feltenstein and Iwata (2002) estimate the impact on private savings of various incentives, using data from Pakistan.

The determinants of private savings have not been looked at empirically in a comprehensive fashion. Masson, Bayoumi, and Samiei (1995) employ a sample that includes developing countries. They find that changes in a government's fiscal position can significantly affect national savings. Demographic variables and foreign savings are important savings determinants, though higher foreign savings tend to depress private savings. Hadjimichael and Ghura (1995a) show that strong macroeconomic policies improve savings for sub-Saharan Africa.

Several papers examine investment in Africa. One type uses macroeconomic data, another uses firm-level micro data. Hadjimichael and Ghura (1995b), an example of the former, find that policies aimed at low inflation augment private investment by reducing macroeconomic uncertainty and the debt burden and by promoting financial intermediation. Papers using micro data include Pattillo (1998a), which uses panel data on Ghanaian manufacturing firms to show that uncertainty has a greater negative effect on investment levels for firms with more irreversible investment. Bigsten and others (1999) apply panel data from four African countries to explore the low sensitivity of investment to profits. Bigsten and others (2000) show the importance of "lumpy" investment patterns in explaining aggregate manufacturing investment in these countries. Ghura and Goodwin (2000) use pooled data from Asia, Africa, and Latin America. They find that increased government investment, financial deepening, and enhanced educational attainment play important roles in stimulating private investment.

Basu and Srinivasan (2002) employ a case study approach in studying foreign direct investment. They demonstrate that sustained political and macroeconomic stability and structural reforms have been key to explaining why certain African countries have attracted substantial foreign direct investment.

Fiscal Policy and Poverty Reduction

The IMF Fiscal Affairs Department has a substantial research program in place on fiscal policy and poverty reduction. Work in this area has focused on poverty-reducing expenditures and on the link between fiscal adjustment and growth.

Poverty-Reducing Expenditures

Recent econometric work confirms that increased public spending on poverty-reducing activities—such as education and health care—can lead to better performance on social indicators similar to those that monitor progress toward the Millennium Development Goals (Gupta and Verhoeven, 2001; Gupta, Verhoeven, and Tiongson 2002a, 2002b, and Baldacci, Guin-Siu, and de Mello, 2003). These indicators are used to estimate the amount of resources that countries need to meet the goals. This exercise is subject to certain caveats since it assumes, first, that increased foreign financing has no adverse effect on domestic revenues and, second, that new spending on the poor will be at least as efficient and well targeted as past spending.

Another branch of research explores the effects of corruption on education, health, and military expenditures; the impact of higher military outlays on social spending, including in conflict-afflicted countries; and the impact of debt relief on public health outlays (Abed and Gupta, 2002; Chu and others, 1995; Gupta, Davoodi, and Tiongson, 2001; Gupta and others, 2001; Gupta, de Mello, and Sharan, 2001; Gupta and others, 2002b, 2002c, 2002d). A recent empirical paper by de Mello and Tiongson (2003) asks whether more unequal societies spend more on income redistribution than their more egalitarian counterparts. Dabla-Norris and Matovu (2002) examine the impact of education spending in Uganda. The role of Poverty and Social Impact Analysis (PSIA) in Poverty Reduction Growth Facility programs is assessed in Inchauste (2002), and Hossain (2003) suggests a framework for PSIA. Lopes (2002) analyzes trends and correlations of regional social indicators with three major scaled measures of government spending and discusses underlying policy implications. Finally, a recent study by Davoodi, Tiongson, and Asawanuchit (2003) explores the potential role of incidence analysis in the context of Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs) and Joint Staff Assessments (JSAs), pointing out the usefulness of benefit incidence analysis.

Fiscal Adjustment and Growth

A recent paper shows that fiscal adjustment has a positive effect on growth in low-income countries, even in the short run (Gupta, Clements, and others, 2002a). The composition of public expenditure also matters: countries where spending is concentrated on wages tend to have lower growth, while those that allocate a higher share to capital expenditures enjoy faster output expansion. Tanner and Ramos (2002) look at the relative importance of fiscal and monetary policy in adjustment.

External Sector Policies and Poverty Reduction Commodity Prices, Real Exchange Rate, and Terms of Trade

About a quarter of world merchandise trade consists of primary commodities, and many low-income countries rely on a few of these commodities for the bulk of their export earnings. Research on commodity-related issues has concentrated on the implications of price movements for the external earnings of commodity-dependent countries. Cashin, McDermott, and Scott (1999) examine the attributes of price cycles and analyze the small long-run downward trend and large variability of real commodity prices (2000). Cashin, Liang, and McDermott (1999) show that shocks to commodity prices are typically long-lasting. Borensztein and Reinhart (1994) look at the macroeconomic determinants of oil and non-oil commodity prices, while Brunner (2002) analyzes the effect of climatic variability on world commodity prices and economic activity.

Terms of trade and primary commodity prices are closely related as determinants of low-income countries' macroeconomic performance. Hoffmaister, Roldós, and Wickham (1998) analyze the channels through which exogenous terms-of-trade shocks affect external imbalances and macroeconomic performance. Cashin, McDermott, and Pattillo (2004, forthcoming) focus on the persistence and volatility of terms-of-trade shocks; while Agénor, McDermott, and Prasad (2001) look at their relationship to national consumption, investment, and output.

IMF research has also paid particular attention to the effect of real exchange rate movements, often driven by capital flows, on the growth prospects of low-income countries. Chen and Rogoff (2003) and DeGregorio and Wolf (1994) look at the determinants of equilibrium real exchange rates, emphasizing how commodity-price movements,

terms-of-trade fluctuations, and productivity differentials can drive real exchange rates in developing countries. Clark and MacDonald (1999) illustrate another prominent branch of IMF research that assesses the applicability of purchasing power parity-based models for gauging the competitiveness of exchange rates.

Current Accounts

Research on current accounts in low-income countries has focused on two related questions. First, Milesi-Ferretti and Razin (1996a) examine when and whether a given current account imbalance is optimal or "excessive." Second, is the current account sustainable over the long run? In a closely related research strand, Milesi-Ferretti and Razin (2000) examine the causes of current account reversals; Milesi-Ferretti and Razin (1998) look at the relationship between external crises and large imbalances. Chu and Prasad (2003) focus on the determinants of current account balances, while Callen and Cashin (2002) and Cashin and McDermott (2002, 2003) examine the response of the trade balance and the current account to various shocks. Finally, Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2001) examine the determinants and dynamics of net foreign assets.

External Trade

Several studies, including Bannister and Thugge (2001) and Berg and Krueger (2002a), have examined the role of external trade in economic growth and poverty reduction. Work by Bayoumi and Ostry (1997) and Ebrill, Stotsky, and Gropp (1999) looks at the cross-country trade implications for optimum currency arrangements and on the effects of trade liberalization on fiscal balances and inflation expectations. Other research has shown how international trade

linkages can propagate cross-country currency crises, particularly where countries enter crises with large current account imbalances. Gravity models have also been used to analyze north-south bilateral trade. Coe and Hoffmaister (1999) find that in sub-Saharan African countries, gravity models show trend declines in the expectedly low trade level, which are atypical if compared to north-south trade trends among other low-income countries. Finally, the fiscal, employment, and inflation implications of trade liberalization have been prominent topics for IMF researchers studying low-income countries.

Monetary, Exchange Policy, and Financial Market Issues

The IMF has carried out substantial research in its core areas of monetary and exchange rate policy, and results of this research have played an important role in informing IMF advice to developing countries. With continuous improvement in the compilation and availability of data, future research could play an even more important role.

Research on monetary policy has focused on issues related to the choice of optimal monetary regimes and on the estimation of money demand functions. Honohan and O'Connell (1997) study how alternative monetary policy arrangements have influenced the performance of monetary policy in the presence of fiscal imbalances in sub-Saharan Africa. Masson and Pattillo (2001a) discuss the desirability and possible means to a monetary union in West Africa, while Masson and Pattillo (2001b) assess whether a monetary union could affect fiscal discipline in the region. Agénor and Khan (1992) examine the relative demand for domestic and foreign currencies in developing countries. Jenkins (1999) studies money demand and stabilization in Zimbabwe. Egoumé-Bossogo (2000) analyzes money de-

mand in Guyana during the transformation from a centralized to a market economy. Piñón-Farah (1998) estimates an error-correction model for narrow money demand in Mozambique. Nachega (2001a) uses co-integration analysis to investigate the empirical relationship among money, prices, income, and a vector of interest rates in Cameroon during 1964–94; and in another study (2001b), he analyzes the impact of financial liberalization on broad money demand and inflation in Uganda during the period 1982–98. Barajas and Steiner (2002) look at credit stagnation in Latin America.

With respect to research on exchange rates, particular attention has been paid to how developing countries choose their policies, weighing considerations of international competitiveness and price stability. Aghevli, Khan, and Montiel (1991) specify which factors should be considered in deciding between fixed or flexible arrangements. Eichengreen and others (1998) discuss policy options for countries that intend to move toward greater flexibility. Nashashibi and Bazzoni (1993) analyze the link between alternative exchange rate strategies and fiscal performance in sub-Saharan Africa. Khan and Ostry (1991) study the response of the equilibrium exchange rate to real disturbances in developing countries, and their results are relevant for the design of real exchange rate targets in response to various shocks. Hansen and others (2000) focus on the welfare effects of Uzbekistan's foreign exchange regime and estimate the costs associated with quasi-fiscal multiple exchange rate regimes. Jbili and Kramarenko (2003) explore the advantages of moving from fixed to flexible exchange rate regimes. A recent study by Keller and Richardson (2003) examines the increasing importance of monetary policy in the choice of exchange rate regimes in CIS countries.

Research on financial market issues has focused on the links between financial development and economic growth. De Gregorio and Guidotti (1992) find that measures of financial development have a significant positive impact on longrun growth and, moreover, financial intermediation affects growth mainly through its impact on the productivity rather than on the volume of investment. Marston (1995) focuses on financial sector reform in Jamaica between 1985 and 1992, deriving lessons for the Caribbean region. Mlachila and Chirwa (2002) look at financial reforms and interest rates in the commercial banking system in Malawi. Di Calogero, Nahr, and McLenaghan (1992) examine critical issues in the compilation of banking statistics in the former Soviet republics. Ball and Feltenstein (2001) develop a dynamic general equilibrium model for developing countries to evaluate the causes of bank insolvencies. They then apply this model to stylized data from Bangladesh, concluding that compensation to banks for deposit withdrawals (combined with restrictive fiscal policy) may be the best monetary policy in response to a bank crisis. Creane and others (2003) discuss reform of financial sectors in the Middle East and North Africa.

Structural Reforms and Poverty Reduction

Structural Reforms

Two areas of work in the area of structural reform are "gradualism versus the big-bang approach" and "civil service reform." In the first, Lian and Wei (1998) use a theoretical model to show that replacing institutions all at once with shock therapy is not optimal. Separately, Ramcharan (2002) analyzes the effect of IMF involvement on the reform process, noting that the IMF's role need not always be welfare enhancing. While most papers in this literature are theoretical, Feltenstein and Nsouli (2001) argue that the issue is too

complex to draw simple conclusions. They develop a model parameterized with Chinese data to look at privatization, devaluation, and tariff reform. The optimal reform strategy, they conclude, depends on the objectives sought, the time frame, and the sustainability of the macroeconomic situation. Badiane and others (2002) argue that prospects for poverty reduction in West and Central Africa would be improved by reforming the cotton sector in order to enhance competition and to allow a larger share of the world price to be passed on to farmers.

Papers on the second theme, civil service reform, have stressed the importance of both wage and nonwage policies for improving civil service performance. Haque and Sahay (1996) model the link between government wage policy and administrative efficiency. They show that lower civil service salaries are associated with higher levels of tax evasion. Haque and Aziz (1998) argue that "second generation" civil service reform in Africa should focus on the development of human capital in the public sector, repatriation of the "brain drain," and reduced reliance on foreign technical assistance. In assessing civil service reform in Africa, Lienert and Modi (1997) find reduction in excessive staffing levels and a wage bill, but little progress in decompressing salary differentials. They stress the need for qualitative reforms that reward performance and improve civil service management. The proceedings of an IMF and World Bank seminar on civil service reform look into the determinants of successful civil service reform (IMF and World Bank, 2001).

Finally, several papers examine structural reform policies in particular countries: agricultural policies in Turkmenistan, general structural reform issues in Arab countries, and the structural reform agenda in Albania. Several country-specific papers in the Occasional Papers series devote substantial attention to structural reforms.

Privatization

Papers in the area of privatization focus on its macroeconomic, fiscal, and social macroeconomic effects, as well as on lessons from the first decade of experience in transition economies. Most study samples include both low- and middle-income countries. For example, Barnett (2000) finds that privatization proceeds transferred to the budget tend to be saved, and that total privatization is associated with higher real GDP growth and lower unemployment. Gupta, Schiller, and others (2001) find that public sales and auctions can have negative effects on workers yet maximize government revenue gains. They review the experience of several countries trying to mitigate the adverse social impact of privatization. Havrylyshyn and McGettigan (1999) review issues and lessons for privatization in transition countries. These include realistic expectations for the speed with which the vast task of privatization can be accomplished; how to maximize efficiency gains; whether some methods address agency problems better than others; the importance of privatization in encouraging new start-ups; and how to develop a competitive business environment.

Corruption

Tanzi (1998) surveys corruption and discusses its causes, consequences, scope, and possible corrective actions. He emphasizes that fighting corruption and reforming the state cannot be carried out separately from each other.

On the scope of corruption in particular groups of countries, Weder (2001) finds that the transition economies (including those in Africa and Asia) are no longer distinguishable from other economies on governance indicators; however, substantial intragroup differences are to be found within transition countries. On determinants of corruption,

Van Rijckeghem and Weder (2001) present theoretical and empirical evidence pointing to low civil service wages. De Mello and Barenstein (2001) show that improved governance (including lower corruption) is associated with fiscal decentralization.

The consequences of corruption are well documented. Mauro (1996) finds that corruption lowers investment and economic growth and that it alters the composition of government expenditure by reducing the share of spending on education. Gupta, de Mello, and Sharan (2001) show that corruption is associated with higher military spending as a share of both GDP and total government spending. Gupta, Davoodi, and Tiongson (2001) show that corruption affects the provision of social services and therefore social indictors. Gupta, Davoodi, and Alonso-Terme (2002) demonstrate that corruption increases income inequality and poverty. Tanzi and Davoodi (1998a, 2001) present evidence that higher corruption is associated with higher public investment, lower government revenues, lower expenditures on operations and maintenance, and lower quality of public infrastructure. Abed and Davoodi (2000) shed light on corruption in transition economies. Ghura (1998) shows that corruption lowers tax revenue to GDP ratios in sub-Saharan Africa.

Finally, on the difficult question of how to control corruption, Chand and Moene (1997) use a case study and model to argue that it is useful but insufficient to provide bonuses to tax officers. To initiate a virtuous circle, corruption must be contained at higher levels of management so that incentive systems can work. Abed and Gupta (2002) review several of these papers and provide other useful references on the roots of and remedies for corruption. Dabla-Norris and Feltenstein (2003) use a general equilibrium model for a case study on Pakistan.

Labor Markets

Most of the relatively few papers in the area of labor markets are country-specific. Some examine unemployment and consider macroeconomic, structural, and institutional determinants. For example, Chadha (1994) finds unemployment in South Africa to be largely associated with supply rather than cyclical factors. Alleyne and Subramanian (2001) argue that South Africa's labor market institutions do not function well because of high unemployment, even though trade patterns show that South Africa is labor-abundant. In the Philippines, Brooks (2002) shows that increases in employment and declines in unemployment are positively associated with growth and negatively associated with the real minimum wage. On labor markets in a macroeconomic context, Bodart and Le Dem (1995) present a quantitative macroeconomic model accounting for key features of the labor market in Côte d'Ivoire. They show that the informal sector plays an important role in the response of nominal wages and inflation to shocks and policies. Gardner (2003) argues that a large, growing labor force means that the Middle East and North Africa region must foster growth in order to create jobs.

Accessing Private Capital Markets

Almost by definition, low-income countries are those that do not attract significant private capital. Partly for this reason, IMF research on these countries has not higlighted issues related to capital flows, liberalization, and sequencing of reforms. Several related cross-country studies have included low-income countries in their samples, and studies in selected countries have specifically focused on foreign direct investment. Nevertheless, ample scope remains for new work on the determinants of capital-market access for poor countries.

Determinants and Consequences of Capital Controls

Several studies that include, but are not primarily about, low-income countries have examined the determinants and effects of capital controls. Grilli and Milesi-Ferretti (1995), for example, find that capital controls are most likely to be associated with higher inflation, a higher share of seigniorage in total taxes, and lower real interest rates. They also find that capital controls are more likely in countries with government-controlled central banks and less developed tax systems (see, also, Johnston and Tamirisa, 1998). Tamirisa (1998) also reports a strong negative association between capital controls and trade volume.

Because of their size and importance, India and Indonesia have been the subject of several case studies on capital controls and capital account liberalization. Callen and Cashin (2002) find that India's external borrowing is not at the level that would be predicted by the standard intertemporal model of the current account. They attribute this divergence to the presence of capital controls. Habermeier (2000) reviews India's experience and suggests that liberalization of capital flows may have contributed to faster economic growth during the 1990s. Kohli (2001) discusses capital inflows to India in depth. The World Economic Outlook (IMF, 1999) examines why some developing countries were not affected by contagion, and cites India's capital controls as one possible explanation. In studies that include Indonesia, Montiel and Reinhart (1999) and Carlson and Hernández (2002) argue that capital controls can influence the mix of capital inflows received. Johnston, Darbar, and Echeverria (1997) provide detailed review of Indonesia's experience with capital account liberalization.

Attracting Capital Flows

Some cross-country studies on determinants of capital flows have included low-income countries in their samples.

For developing countries, Ghosh and Ostry (1993) find economic fundamentals to be the most important determinant of capital flow. Bhattacharya, Montiel, and Sharma (1997) discuss private capital flows to sub-Saharan Africa, and they suggest a number of structural reforms necessary for attracting higher flows. Basu and Srinivasan (2002) review the experience of seven successful sub-Saharan African countries that have attracted foreign direct investment, suggesting political and macroeconomic stability and structural reforms as the keys to their success. Garibaldi and others (2002) study the determinants of capital flows to 25 transition economies. They also point to economic fundamentals (versus portfolio investment) in explaining the pattern of foreign direct investment. Zebregs (1998) finds the standard neoclassical model to be insufficient to explain the distribution of foreign direct investment. Khan and Reinhart (1995) include Indonesia in their broader discussion of APEC experience with capital flows. Collier, Hoeffler, and Pattillo (2001, 2002) analyze capital flight from developing countries as a portfolio choice. They find that 40 percent of Africa's private wealth is held abroad, which they attribute to exchange rate overvaluation, adverse investor risk ratings, and high indebtedness. Lastly, International Capital Markets Report and World Economic Outlook have regularly covered capital flows to the major lowincome countries.

A few studies have focused on the link between corruption and capital flows. Controlling for other factors, Wei (2000, 2001) shows that more corrupt countries tend to receive less foreign direct investment. Similarly, Wei and Wu (forthcoming) examine the relationship between governance and the composition of capital flows, finding that poor public governance is associated with a higher loan-to-FDI ratio. This, in turn, suggests a link through which countries with low governance scores may be more vulnerable to crises.

Other Issues

Conditionality, Program Design, and Evaluation

A substantial amount of IMF research has dealt with the critical issues of IMF conditionality, program design, and evaluation. IMF researchers have a true comparative advantage over their academic peers in this area, and the potential for value added in new research is very high.

A few papers have asked how to optimally design programs that explicitly recognize time inconsistency and imperfect information problems. Khan and Sharma (2001) use finance and agency theory to justify conditionality attached to IMF-supported programs and to establish that borrowing country ownership is crucial for their success. Boughton and Mourmouras (2002) review the theoretical basis for the importance of ownership and suggest a strategy for strengthening it. Dhonte (1997) argues that IMF member countries that adopt market-friendly policies often encounter a credibility problem that can be lessened by committing to an IMF-supported program and endorsing its conditionality. Mayer and Mourmouras (2002) analyze the determinants and welfare impacts of conditional and unconditional assistance. They show that conditionality may raise the welfare of international financial institutions though not necessarily that of recipient countries. Cordella and Dell'Ariccia (2002) study the limits of conditionality in poverty reduction programs. Conditionality, they argue, may enhance poverty reduction while entailing an inefficient allocation of resources, so aid policies must be carefully tailored to the recipients' characteristics. In a more recent paper (2003), they study the relative effectiveness of conditional budget support and project aid in fostering development. Ramcharan (2002) analyzes the role of IMF conditionality in facilitating domestic reform, noting that IMF involvement does not always lead to

improvements in welfare. In a separate paper (2003), Ramcharan discusses how the link between conditionality and IMF lending can be severed when the stock of country debt becomes sufficiently large.

Regarding the effects of IMF lending, IMF research has focused on the links among macroeconomic stability, poverty reduction, and economic growth. Dicks-Mireaux, Mecagni, and Schadler (2000) estimate the independent effects on economic development of programs supported by the Enhanced Structural Adjustment Facility (ESAF). They find statistically significant beneficial effects on output growth and debt service ratios but no effects on inflation. Hicks and Brekk (1991) study the impact of structural adjustment on the poor, with a focus on Malawi. They find that the real incomes of the poor have been most clearly affected by the pricing policies of the agricultural parastatal and the overall anti-inflationary measures incorporated in the adjustment program. Fischer, Hernández-Catá, and Khan (1998) argue that sub-Saharan countries will need to encourage private investment by combining policies aimed at macroeconomic stability with enduring structural reforms in order to meet the challenges of globalization and sustain growth momentum. Bredenkamp and Schadler (1998) and Abed and others (1998) evaluate the performance of IMFsupported programs under the ESAF. More recently, Gupta, Plant, and others (2002b) assessed the design of PRGFsupported programs. Social issues in IMF-supported programs are discussed more generally in Gupta and others (2000). Hague and Khan (1998) look at the empirical evidence to determine the effects of IMF-supported programs.

External Debt and Aid

Historically, analysis of problems related to developing country debt has been central to the IMF research agenda. Recently, substantial efforts have been undertaken to analyze the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) Initiative. Claessens and others (1997) study the HIPCs' external debt crisis and compare it with the debt crisis that middle-income countries faced in the 1980s. Brooks and others (1998) take a detailed look at the external debt history of 10 low-income developing countries. Ajayi and Khan (2000) analyze the external debt of the severely indebted sub-Saharan African countries, estimating the magnitude of capital flight from such economies. Beaugrand, Loko, and Mlachila (2002) focus on central and western African countries. They review both the principles and practical considerations involved in choosing between foreign and domestic financing of fiscal deficit. Boote and Thugge (1997) describe the debt burden of low-income countries and the traditional mechanisms by the international community to alleviate it. Pattillo, Poirson, and Ricci (2002) assess the nonlinear impact of external debt on growth using a large panel data set of 93 developing countries. Daseking and Powell (1999) estimate the costs of debt relief initiatives since 1988 compared with the costs estimated under the HIPC Initiative. Ross and Abrego (2001) argue that the HIPC Initiative—by substantially reducing HIPCs' debt stocks and debt service payments provides a solid basis for debt sustainability, though broader international support is needed for poverty reduction. Cordella, Dell'Ariccia, and Kletzer (2003) ask whether debt relief is necessarily the best way to increase social welfare spending in HIPCs when the dynamics (and enforcement problems) related to conditional aid relationships are explicitly taken into account. Heller and Gupta (2002a) address some of the challenges associated with the possible expansion of development assistance. A recent study by Gupta and others (2003) looks at the impact of aid flows on government spending and domestic revenue mobilization. Finally,

Gupta, Clements, and Tiongson (2003) examine the cyclical properties of food aid with respect to food availability in recipient countries.

Fiscal Decentralization

Research on decentralization has focused on the impact of decentralization and its impact on expenditure and revenues, the risks following decentralization, and country studies of decentralization.

With regard to the relationship between fiscal decentralization and government expenditure, de Mello (1999a) finds that fiscal decentralization is associated with larger subnational government outlays. Similarly, Baqir (2001) finds that government expenditure increases as the number of legislators increases. Regarding the relationship between fiscal decentralization and economic growth, Davoodi and Zou (1998) find a negative relationship in developing but not in developed countries. On the other hand, de Mello (2000b) finds that fiscal decentralization can boost social capital. Some studies have also focused on how tax externalities can distort the tax system. Keen (1998) and Keen and Kotsogiannis (2002) find that the strength of vertical and horizontal tax externalities depends on the interest responsiveness of the supply of savings and demand for capital, the extent to which immobile factors are taxed by the states, and the strength of preferences between federal and state expenditures.

Recent research underscores the importance of institutional and administrative capacity in managing the risks of decentralization. De Mello (1999a) suggests that coordination failures are likely to result in a deficit bias under decentralized policymaking, particularly in the case of developing countries. De Mello and Barenstein (2001) find that the higher the share of transferred revenue, the stronger the

governance. Drummond, Nacif, and Mansoor (2002) find that good governance and appropriate incentives, rules, and coordination mechanisms among levels of government are the key to successfully maintaining fiscal control. In the lead chapter of her edited volume, Ter-Minassian (1997) notes that decentralization can mean gains in efficiency and welfare while simultaneously complicating the redistribution and macroeconomic objectives of fiscal management. Studies in this volume include practical policy advice on expenditure and revenue assignments, intergovernmental transfers, and controlling subnational government borrowing. Tanzi (1995, 2002) argues that decentralization is more likely to be successful where regions are not competing for tax revenues, local institutions are developed, revenue and expenditure responsibilities are clear and nonoverlapping, and local governments provide good and timely data.

Cross-country and country-level studies have largely focused on developing countries. Dabla-Norris and Wade (2002) examine key aspects of the ongoing decentralization process in transition economies. Bogetic and Stotsky (2000) examine intergovernmental issues in Caribbean countries. Country-level studies include Cuevas (2003) on intergovernmental fiscal relations in Argentina; Ahmad, Ma, and others (2002b) on the intergovernmental grants system in Indonesia; Ahmad, Keping, and others (2002a), Ahmad and Mansoor (2002), and Alfonso and de Mello (2002) on managing decentralization in China, Indonesia, and Brazil, respectively. Ter-Minassian (1997) includes studies on country-specific practices in 21 industrial, developing, and transition countries.

Economic Policy and the Environment

Research on the environment has focused on the effects of environmental taxes, government spending, and trade. With regard to taxes, most works have focused on the design and application of Pigovian environmental taxes, which are used to ensure that prices reflect the full social cost of producing goods and services. Ligthart (1998a) analyzes the design of optimal fiscal policy where tax systems are expected both to internalize externalities and to raise revenue. Several works study how revenues from environmental taxes are used. Ligthart (1998b) argues that using this revenue to cut other taxes may yield employment and environmental dividends if the tax burden can be shifted to agents outside the labor market. From a political economy perspective, Brett and Keen (2000) argue that earmarking for announced programs may help raise environmental taxes in the face of political uncertainty. Given the complex factors that influence natural resource exploitation, Leruth, Paris, and Ruzicka (2000) argue that the basic Pigovian framework may not work effectively and propose a bond mechanism instead. Mani (2003) suggests environmental taxes or charges, user fees, and a debt-for-nature swap for efficient management of natural resources in the Kyrgyz Republic.

Research on the spending side is rare. Gupta, Miranda, and Parry (1995) identify areas of public expenditure policy that interact with the environment and argue for reform of certain types of subsidies, increased operations and maintenance expenditures, and a thorough environmental assessment of capital projects. Heller and Mani (2002) provide practical policy advice to developing countries vulnerable to climate change.

Several papers analyze the environmental implications of trade. Mani and Frederiksson (2001a) develop a political economy framework to show that trade integration generally raises environmental taxes by reducing industry lobbying efforts where political systems are relatively stable. Analysis has also been conducted on the use of trade measures such as

tariffs and export taxes, or outright bans for promoting environmental objectives. A study on Costa Rica (Kishor, Mani, and Constantino 2001) shows that elimination of log export bans could generate considerable economic as well as environmental benefit if the resulting increased demand were met from sustainably managed forests.

Transition in Low-Income Countries

IMF economists have conducted significant research on the transitions from centrally planned to market-based economies in central Europe, eastern Europe, and central Asia. A significant share of this research has been on groups of transition economies as a whole, including those in the low-income category. However, many low-income transition countries have been studied individually, investigating the output losses and high inflation rates as these countries moved away from central planning. Other studies analyze the structural and macroeconomic challenges encountered along the transition path. Issues relating to privatization, poverty and social sector policies, and the design of appropriate fiscal and monetary polices have all received much attention.

The collapse of output during the initial stages of transition with resumption of growth has been a major topic of IMF research. Bruno (1992) and Fischer, Sahay, and Végh (1996a, 1996b) provide an overview of early experiences with macroeconomic stabilization and growth in the transition economies. Several studies have provided country-specific analyses of growth issues in low-income transition economies—for example, Black (2001) on Mongolia; Taube and Zettelmeyer (1998) on Uzbekistan; and Cornelius and Lenain (1996) and Havrylyshyn, Izvorski, and van Rooden (1999) on Ukraine. Berg and others (1999) study the evolution of output differences among transition countries.

Many papers have explored the behavior of inflation following price liberalization. Sahay and Végh (1996) develop a model to explain inflationary pressures and stabilization in nonmarket economies. Koen and De Masi (1997) summarize the stylized facts associated with prices and inflation during the transition. The real appreciations caused by high inflation have also been much studied. Krajnyák and Zettelmeyer (1998), for instance, estimate the level of dollar wages consistent with a group of transition economies' capital and labor stocks in order to assess whether real exchange rates have exceeded equilibrium values.

The privatization of state-owned enterprises—an important step in the transition process—has been the subject of substantial research. Havrylyshyn and McGettigan (1999a, 1999b) summarize experiences during the first decade of transition. Husain and Sahay (1992) study the sequencing of privatization in reforming planned economies. For the case of Ukraine, Pivovarsky (2003) explores the impact of privatization on ownership structures and the linkages between ownership structure and enterprise performance. Elborgh-Woytek and Lewis (2002) distill lessons on privatization procedures and their outcomes from the Ukranian privatization experience. Gürgen and others (1999) provide a comprehensive overview of privatization and other economic reforms undertaken by the Central Asian states.

Several studies have analyzed the impact of the transition on poverty and the role of social safety nets—for example, Van Rijckeghem (1994) on Albania; and Paull (1991), IMF Fiscal Affairs Department (1995), and Chu and Gupta (1996) for a set of transition economies. Heller and Keller (2001) review the impact of the transition process on social policies and institutions and recommend future social sector reforms. Gupta and others (2001) analyze the appropriate size and scope of government in transition economies.

Fiscal and monetary policy issues have also been the topic of many research papers. Tanzi (1992) focuses on fiscal policy in the economies of transition. Buiter (1997) studies fiscal performance under IMF-supported programs. The fiscal adjustment experience in the transition is reviewed in Purfield (2003). Monetary and exchange rate policy options for the transition economies are assessed by Klyuev (2001), who develops a model of exchange rate regime choice taking into account the particular aspects of transitional economies. Sløk (2000) studies monetary policy and the demand for money in Mongolia, finding a greater role of transactions demand for money in transition economies relative to industrial economies.

4

Bibliography

Determinants of Growth and Poverty (pp. 15-24)

- Abed, George T., 2003, "Unfulfilled Promise: Why the Middle East and North Africa Region Has Lagged in Growth and Globalization," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 40, No.1 (March), pp. 10–14.
- Ahmed, Masood, and Hugh Bredenkamp, 2000, "Supporting Poverty Reduction in Low-Income Developing Countries: The International Community's Response," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 37 (December), pp. 10–13.
- Akitoby, Bernardin, and Matthias Cinyabuguma, 2003, "Sources of Growth in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: A Retrospective and Prospects," IMF Working Paper (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Alonso-Gamo, Patricia, Annalisa Fedelino, and Sebastian Paris Horvitz, 1997, "Globalization and Growth Prospect in Arab Countries," IMF Working Paper 97/125 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Aziz, Jahangir, 1996, "Growth Accounting and Growth Processes," IMF Working Paper 96/116 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002, "Poverty Dynamics in Rural India," IMF Working Paper 02/172 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, and Christoph Duenwald, 2002, "The Growth–Financial Intermediation Nexus in China," IMF Working Paper 02/194 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Baldacci, Emanuele, Luiz R. de Mello Jr., and Maria Inchauste-Comboni, 2002, "Financial Crises, Poverty, and Income Distribution," IMF Working Paper 02/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Basu, Anupam, Evangelos Calamitsis, and Dhaneshwar Ghura, 2000, "Promoting Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Learning What Works," *Economic Issues*, No. 23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Basu, Anupam, and Krishna Srinivasan, 2002, "Foreign Direct Investment in Africa," IMF Working Paper 02/61 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Beddies, Christian, 1999, "Investment, Capital Accumulation, and Growth—Some Evidence from The Gambia 1964–98," IMF Working Paper 99/117 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berthélemy, Jean-Claude, and Ludvig Söderling, 2002, "Will There Be New Emerging-Market Economies in Africa by the Year 2020?" IMF Working Paper 02/131 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bigsten, A., P. Collier, P. Dercon, S. Fafchamps, M. Gauthier,
 B. Gunning, J. Oostendorp, C. Pattillo, M. Soderbom, F. Teal, and
 A. Zeufack, 1999, "Investment in Africa's Manufacturing Sector:
 A Four Country Panel Data Analysis," Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 61, No. 99/4, pp. 489–512.
- ———, 2000, "Adjustment Costs, Irreversibility, and Investment Patterns in African Manufacturing," IMF Working Paper 00/99 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 2001, "Exporting and Efficiency in African Manufacturing," in *Policies to Promote Competitiveness in Manufacturing in Sub-Saharan Africa*, ed. by A. Fosu, S. Nsouli, and A.Varoudakis (Washington: OECD, IMF, and African Economic Research Consortium).
- Bisat, Amer, Mohamed A. El-Erian, and Thomas Helbling, 1997, "Growth, Investment, and Savings in the Arab Economies," IMF Working Paper 97/85 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Borensztein, Eduardo, José De Gregorio, and Jong-Wha Lee, 1994, "How Does Foreign Direct Investment Affect Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 94/110 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also, 1998, *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 115–35.
- Bossone, Biagio, and Abdourahmane Sarr, 2002, "A New Financial System for Poverty Reduction and Growth," IMF Working Paper 02/178 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bulíř, Aleš, 1998, "Income Inequality—Does Inflation Matter?" IMF Working Paper 88/7 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calamitsis, Evangelos, Anupam Basu, and Dhaneshwar Ghura, 1999, "Adjustment and Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 99/51 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Cashin, Paul, and Norman Loayza, 1995, "Paradise Lost? Growth, Convergence, and Migration in the South Pacific," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 42 (September), pp. 608–41.
- Cashin, Paul, Paolo Mauro, Catherine A. Pattillo, and Ratna Sahay, 2001, "Macroeconomic Policies and Poverty Reduction: Stylized Facts and an Overview of Research," IMF Working Paper 01/135 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cashin, Paul, and Ratna Sahay, 1996, "Internal Migration, Center-State Grants, and Economic Growth in the States of India," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 43 (March), pp. 123–71.
- Chand, Sheetal K., and Parthasarathi Shome, 1995, "Poverty Alleviation in a Financial Programming Framework: An Integrated Approach," IMF Working Paper 95/29 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chander, Prakash, 2001, "Subsidy Reforms and Poverty Alleviation," IMF Working Paper 01/126 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Choudhri, Ehsan U., and Dalia Hakura, 2000, "International Trade and Productivity Growth—The Sectoral Effects for Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 00/17 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, Hamid Davoodi, and Sanjeev Gupta, 2000, "Income Distribution and Tax and Government Social Spending Policies in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 00/62 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, and Sanjeev Gupta, 1998, "Social Protection in Transition Countries: Emerging Issues," MOCT–MOST, *Economic Policy in Transitional Economies*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 107–23.
- ———, 1996, Social Safety Nets: Issues and Recent Experiences (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Clements, Benedict, 1997a, "Income Distribution and Social Expenditure in Brazil," IMF Working Paper 97/120 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1997b, "The Real Plan, Poverty, and Income Distribution in Brazil," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 34 (September), pp. 44–46.
- Coe, David T., Elhanan Helpman, and Alexander W. Hoffmaister, 1994, "North–South R&D Spillovers," IMF Working Paper 94/144 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Collier, Paul, and Catherine Pattillo, eds., 2000, *Investment and Risk in Africa* (London: Macmillan Press, Ltd).
- Corbacho, Ana, Mercedes Garcia-Escribano, and Gabriela Inchauste, 2003, "Argentina: Macroeconomic Crisis and Household Vulnerability," IMF Working Paper 03/89 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- De Blasio, Guido, 2001, "Resources and Incentives to Reform: A Model and Some Evidence on Sub-Saharan African Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/86 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- De Gregorio, José, 1991, "Economic Growth in Latin America," IMF Working Paper 91/71 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dhonte, Pierre, 1995, "Three Propositions on African Economic Growth," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 95/9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, Daudi Ballali, and Gilbert Terrier, 1994, "Economic Trends in Africa: The Economic Performance of Sub-Saharan African Countries," IMF Working Paper 94/109 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dhonte, Pierre, Rina Bhattacharya, and Tarik Yousef, 2000, "Demographic Transition in the Middle East—Implications for Growth, Employment, and Housing," IMF Working Paper 00/41 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Egoumé-Bossogo, Philippe, Ebrima Faal, Raj Nallari, and Ethan Weissman, 2003, *Guyana: Experience with Macroeconomic Stabilization, Structural Adjustment, and Poverty Reduction*, coordinated by Philippe Egoumé-Bossogo (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Eken, Sena, Thomas Helbling, and Adnan Mazarei, 1997, "Fiscal Policy and Growth in the Middle East and North Africa Region," IMF Working Paper 97/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Eken, Sena, David A. Robalino, and George Schieber, 2003, "Improving Human Development in MENA Will Require a Different Approach to Health, Education, and Social Protection," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 40 (March).
- Esteve-Volart, Berta, 2000, "Sex Discrimination and Growth," IMF Working Paper 00/84 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Feltenstein, Andrew, and Shigeru Iwata, 2002, "Why Is It So Hard to Finance Budget Deficits? Problems of a Developing Country," IMF Working Paper 02/95 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Garibaldi, Pietro, Nada Mora, Ratna Sahay, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 2002, "What Moves Capital to Transition Economies?" IMF Working Paper 02/64 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gerson, Philip R., 1998, "Poverty, Income Distribution, and Economic Policy in the Philippines," IMF Working Paper 98/20 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ghosh, Atish R., and Steven Phillips, 1998, "Inflation, Disinflation, and Growth," IMF Working Paper 98/68 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ghura, Dhaneshwar, 1997, "Private Investment and Endogenous Growth—Evidence from Cameroon," IMF Working Paper 97/165 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Barry Goodwin, 2000, "Determinants of Private Investment: A Cross-Regional Empirical Investigation," *Applied Economics*, Vol. 32 (November), pp. 1819–29.
- Ghura, Dhaneshwar, Carlos A. Leite, and Charalambos Tsangarides, 2002, "Is Growth Enough? Macroeconomics Policy and Poverty Reduction," IMF Working Paper 02/118 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Goldsbrough, D., S. Coorey, L. Dicks-Mireaux, Kochhar B. Horvath, K.M. Mecagni, E. Offerdal, and J. Zhou, 1996, *Reinvigorating Growth in Developing Countries: Lessons from Adjustment Policies in Eight Economies*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 139 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gotur, Padma, 1991, "Bangladesh: Economic Reform Measures and the Poor," IMF Working Paper 91/39 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Emanuele Baldacci, and Carlos Mulas-Granados, 2002a, "Expenditure Composition, Fiscal Adjustment and Growth in Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/77 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Journal of International Money and Finance*.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Maria Teresa Guin-Siu, and Luc Leruth, 2002b, "Debt Relief and Public Health Spending in Heavily Indebted Poor Countries," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, Vol. 80, No. 2, pp. 151–57.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Michael Keen, Benedict Clements, Kevin Fletcher, Luiz de Mello, and Muthukumara Mani, 2002c, "Fiscal Dimensions

- of Sustainable Development," IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, and Erwin Tiongson, 2003, "Foreign Aid and Consumption Smoothing: Evidence from Global Food Aid," IMF Working Paper 03/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Review of Development Economics*.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Hamid Davoodi, and Rosa Alonso-Terme, 2002, "Does Corruption Affect Income Inequality and Poverty," *Economics of Governance*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 23–45.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Calvin McDonald, Christian Schiller, MarijnVerhoeven, Zeljko Bogetic, and Gerd Schwartz, 1998, "Mitigating the Costs of the Asian Crisis," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 35 (September), pp. 18–21.
- Gylfason, Thorvaldur, 1997, "Exports, Inflation, and Growth," IMF Working Paper 97/119 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Haacker, Markus, 2001, "Providing Health Care to HIV Patients in Southern Africa," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 01/03 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002a, "Modeling the Macroeconomic Impact of HIV/AIDS," IMF Working Paper 02/195 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002b, "The Economic Consequences of HIV/AIDS in Southern Africa," IMF Working Paper 02/38 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Nicholas Crafts, 2003, "Welfare Implications of HIV/AIDS," IMF Working Paper 03/118 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hadjimichael, Michael T., and Dhaneshwar Ghura, 1995a, "Public Policies and Private Savings and Investment in Sub-Saharan Africa: An Empirical Investigation," IMF Working Paper 95/19 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1995b, "Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 95/136 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hadjimichael, Michael T., Martin Muhleisen, Roger Nord, and E. Murat Ucer, 1994, "Effects of Macroeconomic Stability on Growth, Savings, and Investment in Sub-Saharan Africa—An Empirical Investigation," IMF Working Paper 94/98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ———, 1995, Sub-Saharan Africa: Growth, Savings, and Investment 1986–93, IMF Occasional Paper No. 118 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hadjimichael, Michael T., Michael Nowak, Robert Sharer, and Amor Tahari, 1996, *Adjustment for Growth: The African Experience*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 143 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Haque, Nadeem U., Aasim M. Husain, and Peter Montiel, 1991, "An Empirical 'Dependent Economy' Model for Pakistan," IMF Working Paper 91/102 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hernández-Catá, Ernesto, 2000, "Raising Growth and Investment in Sub-Saharan Africa—What Can Be Done?" IMF Policy Discussion Paper 00/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hillman, Arye, 2000, "Poverty, Inequality, and Unethical Behavior of the Strong," IMF Working Paper 00/187 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hoffmaister, Alex, Jorge Roldós, and Peter Wickham, 1998, "Macroeconomic Fluctuations in Sub-Saharan Africa," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (March), pp. 132–60.
- Holden, Paul, and Vassili Prokopenko, 2001, "Financial Development and Poverty Alleviation: Issues and Policy Implications for Developing and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Huang, Haizhou, and Xu Chenggang, 1999, "Institutions, Innovations, and Growth," IMF Working Paper 99/34 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- International Monetary Fund, Fiscal Affairs Department, 1998, "Should Equity Be a Goal of Economic Policy?" *Finance & Development*, Vol. 35 (September), pp. 2–5.
- ———, Middle East Department, 2002, "Long-Term Growth in Pakistan: Trends in Productivity and Factor Accumulation," *Selected Issues for the 2002 Article IV Consultation Discussions with Pakistan* (Washington).
- Iwata, Shigeru, Mohsin S. Khan, and Hiroshi Murao, 2002, "Sources of Economic Growth in East Asia: A Nonparametric Assessment," IMF Working Paper 02/13 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Jonsson, Gunnar, and Arvind Subramanian, 2000, "Dynamic Gains from Trade—Evidence from South Africa," IMF Working Paper 00/45 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Jung, Hong-Sang, and Erik Thorbecke, 2001, "The Impact of Public Education Expenditure on Human Capital, Growth, and Poverty in Tanzania and Zambia: A General Equilibrium Approach," IMF Working Paper 01/106 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Journal of Policy Modeling*.
- Kapur, Ishan, Michael T. Hadjimichael, Paul Hilbers, Jerald Schiff, and Philippe Szymczak, 1991, Ghana: Adjustment and Growth, 1983–91, IMF Occasional Paper No. 91/86 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mahmood H., 2000, "Rural Poverty in Developing Countries— Issues and Policies, IMF Working Paper 00/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002a, "When Is Economic Growth Pro-Poor? Experiences in Malaysia and Pakistan," IMF Working Paper 02/85 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002b, "Rural Poverty in Developing Countries: Implications for Public Policy," *Economic Issues*, No. 26 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Manmohan S. Kumar, 1993, "Public and Private Investment and the Convergence of Per Capita Incomes in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 93/51 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1997, "Public and Private Investment and the Growth Process in Developing Countries," *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 59, No. 1, pp. 69–88.
- Khan, Mohsin S., Peter Montiel, and Nadeem U. Haque, eds., 1991, Macroeconomic Models for Adjustment in Developing Countries (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Abdelhak S. Senhadji, 2000a, "Financial Development and Economic Growth: An Overview," IMF Working Paper 00/209 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2000b, "Threshold Effects in the Relationship Between Inflation and Growth," IMF Working Paper 00/110 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kim, Se-Jik, and Yon Jin Kim, 1999, "Growth Gains from Trade and Education," IMF Working Paper 99/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Leite, Carlos, and Jens Weidmann, 1999, "Does Mother Nature Corrupt—Natural Resources, Corruption, and Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 99/85 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ley, Eduardo, and Mark Steel, 1999, "We Just Averaged Over Two Trillion Cross-Country Growth Regressions," IMF Working Paper 99/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lim, Ewe-Ghee, 2001, "Determinants of, and the Relation Between, Foreign Direct Investment and Growth: A Summary of the Recent Literature," IMF Working Paper 01/175 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lopes, Paulo S., and Emilio Sacerdoti, 1991, "Mozambique— Economic Rehabilitation and the Poor," IMF Working Paper 91/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Loungani, Prakash N., and Phillip L. Swagel, 2001, "Sources of Inflation in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/198 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ma, Henry, 1998, "Inflation, Uncertainty, and Growth in Colombia," IMF Working Paper 98/161 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- MacFarlan, Maitland, and Silvia Sgherri, 2001, "The Macroeconomic Impact of HIV/AIDS in Botswana," IMF Working Paper 01/80 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Masson, Paul R., 2001, "Migration, Human Capital, and Poverty in a Dual-Economy of a Developing Country," IMF Working Paper 01/28 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, Tamim Bayoumi, and Hossein Samiei, 1995, "International Evidence on the Determinants of Private Saving," IMF Working Paper 95/51 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mauro, Paolo, 2002, "The Persistence of Corruption and Slow Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 02/213 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- McDonald, Calvin, Christian Schiller, and Kenichi Ueda, 1999, "Income Distribution, Informal Safety Nets, and Social Expenditures in Uganda," IMF Working Paper 99/163 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mendoza, Enrique G., Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, and Patrick K. Asea, 1995, "Do Taxes Matter for Long-Run Growth? Harberger's Superneutrality Conjecture," IMF Working Paper 95/79 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ———, 1997, "On the Ineffectiveness of Tax Policy in Promoting Long-Run Growth: Harberger's Superneutrality Conjecture," *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 66 (October), pp. 99–126.
- Mengistae, Taye, and Catherine Pattillo, 2002, "Export Orientation and Productivity in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 02/89 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Morales, Armando, 1998, "Determinants of Growth in an Error-Correction Model for El Salvador," IMF Working Paper 98/104 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Moser, Gary G., and Toshihiro Ichida, 2001, "Economic Growth and Poverty Reduction in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 01/112 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mühleisen, Martin, 1997, "Improving India's Saving Performance," IMF Working Paper 97/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nord, Roger, Michael Mered, Nisha Agrawal, and Zafar Ahmed, 1993, "Structural Adjustment, Economic Performance, and Aid Dependency in Tanzania," IMF Working Paper 93/66 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ogaki, Masao, Jonathan D. Ostry, and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1995, "Saving Behavior in Low- and Middle-Income Developing Countries: A Comparison," IMF Working Paper 95/3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ostry, Jonathan D., and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1992, "Private Saving and Terms of Trade Shocks: Evidence from Developing Countries," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39 (September), pp. 495–517.
- Pattillo, Catherine, 1998a, "Investment, Uncertainty, and Irreversibility in Ghana," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (September), pp. 522–53.
- ———, 1998b, "Economic Security, Private Investment, and Growth in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 98/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 2000, "Risk, Financial Constraints, and Equipment Investment in Ghana: A Firm-Level Analysis," ed. by P. Collier and C. Pattillo, in *Investment and Risk in Africa* (London: Macmillan Press, Ltd).
- Pattillo, Catherine A., Hélène K. Poirson, and Luca Ricci, 2002, "External Debt and Growth," IMF Working Paper 02/69 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Poirson, Hélène, 2000, "The Impact of Intersectoral Labor Reallocation on Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 00/104 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Robb, Caroline M. Kende, 2003, "Poverty and Social Impact Analysis— Linking Macroeconomic Policies to Poverty Outcomes: Summary of Early Experiences," IMF Working Paper 03/43 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rodlauer, M., P. Loungani, V. Arora, C. Christofides, E.G. de la Piedra, P. Kongsamut, K. Kostial, V. Summers, and A. Vamvakidis, 2000, *Philippines: Toward Sustainable and Rapid Growth*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 187 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sacerdoti, Emilio, Sonia Brunschwig, and Jon Tang, 1998, "The Impact of Human Capital on Growth—Evidence from West Africa," IMF Working Paper 98/162 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sala-i-Martin, Xavier, 1996, "Transfers, Social Safety Nets, and Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 96/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sakr, Khaled, 1993, "Determinants of Private Investment in Pakistan," IMF Working Paper 93/30 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sarel, Michael, 1994, "Demographic Dynamics and the Empirics of Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 94/143 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1995, "Nonlinear Effects of Inflation on Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 95/56 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1997, "How Macroeconomic Factors Affect Income Distribution— The Cross-Country Evidence," IMF Working Paper 97/152 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Senhadji, Abdelhak, 1999, "Sources of Economic Growth—An Extensive Growth Accounting Exercise," IMF Working Paper 99/77 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002, "Sources of Economic Growth," *IMF Research Bulletin*, Vol. 3 (September), pp. 1–4.
- Sharer, Robert L., Hema R. De Zoysa, and Calvin A. McDonald, 1995, *Uganda: Adjustment with Growth, 1987–94*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 95/121 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Söderling, Ludvig, 2002, "Escaping the Curse of Oil? The Case of Gabon," IMF Working Paper 02/93 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Staff of the IMF, 1995, Social Dimensions of the IMF's Policy Dialogue, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 47 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Staff of the World Bank, 2002, "Poverty and Human Development," in Selected Issues for the 2002 Article IV Consultation Discussions with Pakistan (Washington: World Bank).
- Staffs of the World Bank, Asian Development Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, and International Monetary Fund, 2001, "Social Safety Nets in Response to Crisis: Lessons and Guidelines from Asia and Latin America," IMF Board Paper SM/01/86 (March) (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Subramanian, Arvind, and Devesh Roy, 2001, "Who Can Explain the Mauritian Miracle: Meade, Romer, Sachs, or Rodrik?" IMF Working Paper 01/116 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tanzi, Vito, 1998, "Fundamental Determinants of Inequality and the Role of Government," IMF Working Paper 98/178 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, and Ke-Young Chu, eds., 1998, *Income Distribution and High-Quality Growth* (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press).
- ———, and Sanjeev Gupta, eds., 1999, *Economic Policy and Equity* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Taube, Günther, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 1998, "Output Decline and Recovery in Uzbekistan—Past Performance and Future Prospects," IMF Working Paper 98/132 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Thomas, Saji, and Sudharshan Canagarajah, 2002, "Poverty in a Wealthy Economy: The Case of Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 02/114 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Zettelmeyer, Jeromin, 1998, "The Uzbek Growth Puzzle," IMF Working Paper 98/133 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Fiscal Policy and Poverty Reduction (pp. 24–25)

- Abed, George, Liam P. Ebrill, Sanjeev Gupta, Benedict Clements, Ronald McMorran, Anthony Pellechio, Jerald Schiff, and Marijn Verhoeven, 1998, *Fiscal Reform in Low-Income Countries: Experience Under IMF-Supported Programs*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Abed, George, and Sanjeev Gupta, 2002, Governance, Corruption, and Economic Performance (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ahmad, S. Ehtisham, 1993, "Poverty, Demographic Characteristics, and Public Policy in CIS Countries," IMF Working Paper 93/9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Nigel Chalk, 1993, "On Improving Public Expenditure Policies for the Poor—Major Informational Requirements," IMF Working Paper 93/43 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ahmad, S. Ehtisham, and Luc Leruth, 2000, "Indonesia: Implementing National Policies in a Decentralized Context—Special Purpose Programs to Protect the Poor," IMF Working Paper 00/102 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bakoup, Ferdinand, Abdelrahmi Bessaha, and Luca Errico, 1995, "Regional Integration in Eastern and Southern Africa: The Cross-Border Initiative and its Fiscal Implications," IMF Working Paper 95/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Baldacci, Emanuele, Luiz de Mello Jr., and Gabriela Inchauste, 2002, "Financial Crises, Poverty, and Income Distribution," IMF Working Paper 02/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Baldacci, Emanuele, Maria Teresa Guin-Siu, and Luiz de Mello, 2003, "More on the Effectiveness of Public Spending on Health Care and Education: A Covariance Structure Model," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 15, pp. 709–25; also, 2002, IMF Working Paper 02/90 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bouley, Dominique, Jerome Fournel, and Luc E. Leruth, 2002, "How Do Treasury Systems Operate in Sub-Saharan Francophone Africa?" IMF Working Paper 02/58 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cashin, Paul, Nadeem U. Haque, and Nilss Olekalns, 2002, "Tax Smoothing, Tax Tilting, and Fiscal Sustainability in Pakistan," *Economic Modeling*, Vol. 20, pp. 47–67; also, 1999, IMF Working Paper 99/63 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cashin, Paul, Nilss Olekalns, and Ratna Sahay, 2001, "Tax Smoothing, Financial Repression, and Fiscal Deficits in India," in *India at the Crossroads—Sustaining Growth and Reducing Poverty*," ed. by T. Callen, P. Reynolds, and C. Towe (Washington: International Monetary Fund), pp. 53–74; also, 1998, IMF Working Paper 98/122 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chelliah, Raja J., 1991, "The Growth of Indian Public Debt—Dimensions of the Problem and Corrective Measures," IMF Working Paper 91/72 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Chen, Duanjie, John Matovu, and Ritva Reinikka, 2001, "A Quest for Revenue and Tax Incidence in Uganda," IMF Working Paper 01/24 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, Hamid Davoodi, and Sanjeev Gupta, 2000, "Income Distribution and Tax and Government Social Spending Policies in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 00/62 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, and Sanjeev Gupta, 1996, "Social Protection in Transition Countries: Emerging Issues," MOCT–MOST, *Economic Policy in Transitional Economies*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 107–23.
- ———, 1998, Social Safety Nets: Issues and Recent Experiences (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, Benedict Clements, Daniel Hewitt, Sergio Lugaresi, Jerald Schiff, Ludger Schuknecht, and Gerd Schwartz, 1995, *Unproductive Public Expenditures: A Pragmatic Approach to Policy Analysis*, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 48 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, and Richard Hemming, 1991, Public Expenditure Handbook: A Guide to Public Expenditure Policy Issues in Developing Countries (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Clements, Benedict, 1997a, "Income Distribution and Social Expenditure in Brazil," IMF Working Paper 97/120 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 1997b, "The Real Plan, Poverty, and Income Distribution in Brazil," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 34 (September), pp. 44–46.
- Corbacho, Ana, and Hamid R. Davoodi, 2002, "Expenditure Issues and Governance in Central America," IMF Working Paper 02/187 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Corbacho, Ana, and Gerd J. Schwartz, 2002, "Mexico: Experiences with Pro-Poor Expenditure Policies," IMF Working Paper 02/12 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cordella, Tito, and Giovanni Dell'Ariccia, 2003, "Budget Support versus Project Aid," IMF Working Paper 03/88 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dabla-Norris, Era, and John M. Matovu, 2002, "Composition of Government Expenditures and Demand for Education in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Davoodi, Hamid, Erwin Tiongson, and Sawitree S. Asawanuchit, 2003, "How Useful Is Benefit Incidence Analysis of Social Spending?" IMF Working Paper (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- de Mello Jr., Luiz R., and Erwin H. Tiongson, 2003, "Income Inequality and Redistributive Government Spending," IMF Working Paper 03/14 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Doré, Ousmane, and Jean-Claude Nachega, 2000, "Budgetary Convergence in the WAEMU: Adjustment Through Revenue or Expenditure?" IMF Working Paper 00/109 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Eken, Sena, Thomas Helbling, and Adnan Mazarei, 1997, "Fiscal Policy and Growth in the Middle East and North Africa Region," IMF Working Paper 97/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Federico, Giulio, James A. Daniel, and Benedict Bingham, 2001, "Domestic Petroleum Price Smoothing in Developing and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gerson, Philip R., 1998, "Poverty, Income Distribution, and Economic Policy in the Philippines," IMF Working Paper 98/20 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ghura, Dhaneshwar, 1998, "Tax Revenue in Sub-Saharan Africa— Effects of Economic Policies and Corruption," IMF Working Paper 98/135 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gillingham, Robert, and Daniel Kanda, 2001, "Pension Reform in India," IMF Working Paper 01/125 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gordon, James, 1997, "The Effect of Increasing Government Employment on Growth: Some Evidence from Africa," IMF Working Paper 97/33 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, 1999, "Economic Transition and Social Protection: Issues and Agenda for Reform," *Reflets et Perspectives de la Vie Economique*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 139–45.
- ——, Benedict Clements, Emanuele Baldacci, and Carlos Mulas-Granados, 2002a, "Expenditure Composition, Fiscal Adjustment, and Growth in Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/77 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Journal of International Money and Finance*.

- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Rina Bhattacharya, and Shamit Chakravarti, 2002b, "Fiscal Consequences of Armed Conflict and Terrorism in Low- and Middle-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/142 (Washington: International Monetary Fund). A shorter version appearing in *The European Journal of Political Economy*.
- ———, 2002c, "The Elusive Peace Dividend," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 39 (December), pp. 49–51.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Robert Gillingham, Christian Schiller, Marijn Verhoeven, Rosa Alonso-Terme, and Alexandros Mourmouras, 1999, "Should Equity Be a Goal of Economic Policy?" *Economic Issues*, No. 16 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Maria Teresa Guin-Siu, and Luc Leruth, 2002d, "Debt Relief and Public Health Spending in Heavily Indebted Poor Countries," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, Vol. 80, No. 2, pp. 151–57.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Luc Leruth, and Maria Teresa Guin-Siu, 2001, "Debt Relief and Public Health Spending in Heavily Indebted Poor Countries," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 38 (September), pp. 10–13.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Alexander Pivovarsky, and Erwin Tiongson, 2003, "Foreign Aid and Revenue Response: Does the Composition of Aid Matter?" IMF Working Paper 03/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Review of Development Economics*.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, and Erwin Tiongson, 1998, "Public Spending on Human Development," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 35 (September), pp. 10–13.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Hamid Davoodi, and Erwin Tiongson, 2001, "Corruption and the Provision of Health Care and Educational Services," in *The Political Economy of Corruption*, ed. by A. Jain (London: Routledge); also, 2000, IMF Working Paper 00/116 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Luiz de Mello, and R. Sharan, 2001, "Corruption and Military Spending," *European Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 17 (November), pp. 749–77; also, 2000, IMF Working Paper 00/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Gupta, Sanjeev, Louis Dicks-Mireaux, Ritha Khemani, Calvin McDonald, and Marijn Verhoeven, 2000a, *Social Issues in IMF-Supported Programs*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 191 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Brian Hammond, Richard Leete, and Eric Swanson, 2000b, "Progress Toward the International Development Goals," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 37 (December), pp. 14–17.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Calvin McDonald, Christian Schiller, Marinus Verhoeven, Zeljko Bogetic, and Gerd Schwartz, 1998a, "Mitigating the Costs of the Asian Crisis," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 35 (September), pp. 18–21.
- ——, 1998b, "Mitigating the Social Costs of the Economic Crisis and the Reform Programs in Asia," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 98/7 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Mark Plant, Benedict Clements, Thomas Dorsey, Emanuele Baldacci, Gabriela Inchauste, Shamsuddin Tareq, and Nita Thacker, 2002e, *Is the PRGF Living Up to Expectations? An Assessment of Program Design*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 216 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, and Marinus Verhoeven, 2001, "The Efficiency of Government Expenditure: Experiences from Africa," *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 433–67; also, 1997, IMF Working Paper 97/153 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Marijn Verhoeven, Robert Gillingham, Christian Schiller, Ali Mansoor, and Juan Pablo Cordoba, 2000c, *Equity and Efficiency in the Reform of Price Subsidies: A Guide for Policymakers* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Marinus Verhoeven, and Erwin Tiongson, 2002a, "Does Higher Government Spending Buy Better Results in Education and Health Care?" *European Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 18, No. 4 (November), pp. 717–37.
- ———, 2002b, "Public Spending on Health Care and the Poor," in *Health Economics*; also, 2001, IMF Working Paper 01/127 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Haque, Nadeem U., and Peter Montiel, 1992, "Fiscal Policy in Pakistan Since 1970," IMF Working Paper 92/97 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Heller, Peter S., and Christian Keller, 2001, "Social Sector Reform in Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/35 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Hillman, Arye, 2000, "Poverty, Inequality, and Unethical Behavior of the Strong," IMF Working Paper 00/187 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Eva Jenkner, 2002, "User Payments for Basic Education in Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/182 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hossain, Shahabuddin M., 1994, "The Equity Impact of the Value-Added Tax in Bangladesh," IMF Working Paper 94/125 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2003, "Poverty and Social Impact Analysis—A Suggested Framework" (Washington: International Monetary Fund), forthcoming.
- Hsiao, William, 2000, "What Should Macroeconomists Know About Health Care Policy?—A Primer," IMF Working Paper 00/136 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Inchauste, Gabriela, 2002, "Poverty and Social Impact Analysis in PRGF-Supported Programs," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 02/11 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Jung, Hong-Sang, and Erik Thorbecke, 2001, "The Impact of Public Education Expenditure on Human Capital, Growth, and Poverty in Tanzania and Zambia: A General Equilibrium Approach," IMF Working Paper 01/106 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Keane, Michael, and Eswar Prasad, 2000, "Inequality, Transfers and Growth—New Evidence from the Economic Transition in Poland," IMF Working Paper 00/117 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mahmood H., and Mohsin S. Khan, 1998, "Taxing Agriculture in Pakistan," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 98/3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lienert, Ian C., and Feridoun Sarraf, 2001, "Systemic Weaknesses of Budget Management in Anglophone Africa," IMF Working Paper 01/211 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lopes, Paulo S., 2002, "A Comparative Analysis of Government Social Spending Indicators and Their Correlation with Social Outcomes in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 02/176 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Masson, Paul R., and Ousmane Doré, 2002, "Experience with Budgetary Convergence in the WAEMU," IMF Working Paper 02/108 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Masson, Paul R., and Catherine Pattillo, 2001, "Monetary Union in West Africa—An Agency of Restraint for Fiscal Policies?" IMF Working Paper 01/34 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- McDonald, Calvin, Christian Schiller, and Kenichi Ueda, 1999, "Income Distribution, Informal Safety Nets, and Social Expenditures in Uganda," IMF Working Paper 99/163 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nashashibi, Karim, Sanjeev Gupta, Claire Liuksila, Henri Lorie, and Walter Mahler, 1992, *The Fiscal Dimensions of Adjustment in Low-Income Countries*," IMF Occasional Paper No. 95 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Parker, Karen, and Steffen Kastner, 1993, "A Framework for Assessing Fiscal Sustainability and External Viability, with an Application to India," IMF Working Paper 93/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Paull, Gillian, 1991, "Poverty Alleviation and Social Safety Net Schemes for Economies in Transition," IMF Working Paper 91/14 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pellechio, Anthony, and Catharine B. Hall, 1996, "Equivalence of the Production and Consumption Methods of Calculating the Value-Added Tax Base: Applications in Zambia," IMF Working Paper 96/67 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pestieau, Pierre, 1999, "The Political Economy of Redistributive Social Security," IMF Working Paper 99/180 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Prakash, Chander, 2001, "Subsidy Reforms and Poverty Alleviation," IMF Working Paper 01/126 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sahn, David, and Stephen Younger, 1999, "Dominance Testing of Social Sector Expenditures and Taxes in Africa," IMF Working Paper 99/172 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Staffs of the World Bank, Asian Development Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, and International Monetary Fund, 2001, "Social Safety Nets in Response to Crisis: Lessons and Guidelines from Asia and Latin America," IMF Board Paper SM/01/86 (March) (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Stotsky, Janet G., and Asegedech Wolde Mariam, 1997, "Tax Effort in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 97/107 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Tanner, Evan C., and Alberto M. Ramos, 2002, "Fiscal Sustainability and Monetary Versus Fiscal Dominance: Evidence from Brazil, 1991–2000," IMF Working Paper 02/05 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tanzi, Vito, and Ke-Young Chu, eds., 1998, *Income Distribution and High-Quality Growth* (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press).
- ———, and Sanjeev Gupta, eds., 1999, *Economic Policy & Equity* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tanzi, Vito, and Hamid Davoodi, 1998, "Corruption, Public Investment, and Growth," in *The Welfare State, Public Investment and Growth*, ed. by H. Shibata and T. Ihori (Tokyo: Springer).
- Taube, Gunther, and Helaway Tadesse, 1996, "Presumptive Taxation in Sub-Saharan Africa: Experiences and Prospects," IMF Working Paper 96/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

External Sector Policies and Poverty Reduction (pp. 26–28)

Commodity Prices (pp. 26-27)

- Borensztein, Eduardo, Mohsin Khan, Carmen Reinhart, and Peter Wickham, 1994, *The Behavior of Non-Oil Commodity Prices*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 112 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Borensztein, Eduardo, and Carmen Reinhart, 1994, "The Macroeconomic Determinants of Commodity Prices," International Monetary Fund, *Staff Papers*, Vol. 41, pp. 236–61.
- Brunner, Allan, 2002, "El Niño and World Primary Commodity Prices: Warm Water or Hot Air?" *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 84, No. 1, pp. 176–83.
- Cashin, Paul, Luis Céspedes, and Ratna Sahay, 2002, "Keynes, Cocoa and Copper: In Search of Commodity Currencies," IMF Working Paper 02/223 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2003, "Commodity Currencies," Finance & Development, Vol. 40 (March), pp. 45–48.
- ———, 2004, "Commodity Currencies and the Real Exchange Rate," *Journal of Development Economics*, forthcoming.
- Cashin, Paul, Hong Liang, and C. John McDermott, 1999a, "Do Commodity Price Shocks Last Too Long for Stabilization Schemes to Work?" *Finance & Development*, Vol. 36, No. 3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ——, 1999b, "How Persistent Are Shocks to World Commodity Prices?" *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 47, pp. 177–217 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cashin, Paul, C. John McDermott, and Alasdair Scott, 1999, "The Myth of Co-moving Commodity Prices," IMF Working Paper 99/169 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002a, "Booms and Slumps in World Commodity Prices," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 69, No. 1, pp. 277–96.
- ———, 2002b, "The Long-Run Behavior of Commodity Prices: Small Trends and Big Variability," (International Monetary Fund) *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 49, pp. 175–99.
- Chen, Yu-Chin, and Kenneth Rogoff, 2003, "Commodity Currencies," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 60, No. 1, pp. 133–60.
- Collier, Paul, and Jan Gunning, 1996, "Policy Toward Commodity Shocks in Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 96/84 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cuddington, John, and Hong Liang, 2000, "Will the Emergence of the Euro Affect World Commodity Prices?" IMF Working Paper 00/208 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dupont, Dominique, and V. Hugo Juan-Ramón, 1996, "Real Exchange Rates and Commodity Prices," IMF Working Paper 96/27 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hunt, Benjamin, Peter Isard, and Douglas Laxton, 2001, "The Macroeconomic Effects of Higher Oil Prices," IMF Working Paper 01/14 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lele, Uma, J. Gockowski, and K. Adu-Nyako, 1994, "Economics, Politics, and Ethics of Primary Commodity Development: How Can Poor Countries in Africa Benefit the Most?" IMF Working Paper 94/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Liang, Hong, 1998, "The Volatility of the Relative Price of Commodities in Terms of Manufactures Across Exchange Regimes: A Theoretical Model," IMF Working Paper 98/163 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Reinhart, Carmen, and Peter Wickham, 1994, "Commodity Prices: Cyclical Weakness or Secular Decline?" *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41 (June), pp. 175–213.
- Rodriguez, Edgard, and Erwin Tiongson, 2001, "Temporary Migration Overseas and Household Labor Supply: Evidence from Urban Philippines," *International Migration Review*, Vol. 35, No. 3, pp. 709–25.

- Spilimbergo, Antonio, 1999, "Copper and the Chilean Economy, 1960–98," IMF Working Paper 99/57 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Wickham, Peter, 1996, "The Volatility of Oil Prices," IMF Working Paper 96/82 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Real Exchange Rates (pp. 26-27)

- Agénor, Pierre-Richard, and A. Hoffmaister, 1996, "Capital Inflows and the Real Exchange Rate: Analytical Framework and Some Econometric Evidence," IMF Working Paper 96/137 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Carlos Medeiros, 1997, "Cyclical Fluctuations in Brazil's Real Exchange Rate: The Role of Domestic and External Factors," IMF Working Paper 97/128 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Agénor, Pierre-Richard, C. John McDermott, and Eswar Prasad, 2001, "Macroeconomic Fluctuations in Developing Countries—Some Stylized Facts," *World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 14 (May), pp. 251–85.
- Calvo, Guillermo, Leonardo Leiderman, and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1993, "Capital Inflows and Real Exchange Rate Appreciation in Latin America: The Role of External Factors," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 40, pp. 108–51.
- Calvo, Guillermo, and Carmen Reinhart, 2002, "Fear of Floating," Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 117, No. 2 (May), pp. 379-408.
- ———, and Carlos A. Végh, 1995, "Targeting the Real Exchange Rate: Theory and Evidence," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 47 (June), pp. 97–133.
- Cashin, Paul, and C. John McDermott, 2003, "An Unbiased Appraisal of Purchasing Power Parity," *IMF Staff Papers*, forthcoming; also, 2001, IMF Working Paper 01/196 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Clark, Peter B., and Ronald MacDonald, 1999, "Exchange Rates and Economic Fundamentals: A Methodological Comparison of BEERs and FEERs, *Equilibrium Exchange Rates* (Norwell, Massachusetts: Kluwer Academic Publishers).
- Dabos, Marcelo, and V. Hugo Juan-Ramón, 2000, "Real Exchange Rate Response to Capital Flows in Mexico—An Empirical Analysis," IMF Working Paper 00/108 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- De Gregorio, José, and Holger C. Wolf, 1994, "Terms of Trade, Productivity and the Real Exchange Rate," NBER Working Paper No. 4807 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research).
- Domaç, Ilker, and Ghiath Shabsigh, 1999, "Real Exchange Rate Behavior and Economic Growth—Evidence from Egypt, Jordan, Morocco, and Tunisia," IMF Working Paper 99/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dupont, Dominique, and V. Hugo Juan-Ramón, 1996, "Real Exchange Rates and Commodity Prices," IMF Working Paper 96/27 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dutta, Jayasri, 2002, "Dread of Depreciation: Measuring Real Exchange Rate Interventions," IMF Working Paper 02/63 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Edwards, Sebastian, and Miguel Savastano, 2000, "Exchange Rates in Emerging Economies: What Do We Know? What Do We Need to Know?" in *Economic Policy Reform: The Second Stage*, ed. by Anne Krueger (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Fanizza, Domenico, Nicole Laframboise, E. Martin, Randa Sab, and Isabela Karpowitz, 2002, "Tunisia's Experience with Real Exchange Rate Targeting and the Transition to a Flexible Exchange Rate Regime," IMF Working Paper 02/190 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gelbard, Enrique, and Jun Nagayasu, 1999, "Determinants of Angola's Parallel Market Real Exchange Rate," IMF Working Paper 99/90 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Guerguil, Martine, and Martin Kaufman, 1998, "Competitiveness and the Evolution of the Real Exchange Rate in Chile," IMF Working Paper 98/58 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hoffmaister, Alexander, and Jorge Roldós, 2001, "The Sources of Macroeconomic Fluctuations in Developing Countries: Brazil and Korea," *Journal of Macroeconomics*, Vol. 23, No. 2 (Spring), pp. 213–39.
- ———, and Peter Wickham, 1998, "Macroeconomic Fluctuations in Sub-Saharan Africa," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (March), pp. 132–60.
- Ito, Takatoshi, Peter Isard, Steven Symansky, and Tamim Bayoumi, 1996, Exchange Rate Movements and Their Impact on Trade and Investment in the APEC Region, IMF Occasional Paper No. 145 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Khan, Mohsin, and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1992, "Response of Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate to Real Disturbances in Developing Countries," *World Development*, Vol. 20, No. 9 (September), pp. 1325–34.
- Kletzer, Kenneth, and Renu Kohli, 2001, "Financial Repression and Exchange Rate Management in Developing Countries: Theory and Empirical Evidence for India," IMF Working Paper 01/103 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Krichene, N., 1998, "Purchasing Power Parities in Five East African Countries—Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda," IMF Working Paper 98/148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lane, Philip R., Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, 2000, "The Transfer Problem Revisited: Net Foreign Assets and Real Exchange Rates," IMF Working Paper 00/123 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002, "External Wealth, the Trade Balance, and the Real Exchange Rate," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 46 (June), pp. 1049–71.
- Liang, Hong, 1998, "Real Exchange Rate Volatility—Does the Nominal Exchange Rate Regime Matter?" IMF Working Paper 98/147 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- MacDonald, Ronald, and Mark P. Taylor, 1992, "Exchange Rate Economics: A Survey," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 1–57.
- Marsh, Ian W., and Stephen Tokarick, 1994, "Competitiveness Indicators—A Theoretical and Empirical Assessment," IMF Working Paper 94/29 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mongardini, Joannes, 1998, "Estimating Egypt's Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate," IMF Working Paper 98/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Montiel, Peter, 1997, "Exchange Rate Policy and Macroeconomic Management in ASEAN Countries," in *Macroeconomic Issues Facing ASEAN Countries*, ed. by J. Hinklin, D. Robinson, and A. Singh (Washington: International Monetary Fund), pp. 253–98.
- ——, and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1992a, "Real Exchange Rate Targeting Under Capital Controls: Can Money Provide a Nominal Anchor?" *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 58–78.
- ——, 1992b, "External Shocks and Inflation in Developing Countries Under a Real Exchange Rate Rule," IMF Working Paper 92/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ———, 1994, "The Parallel Market Premium: Is It a Reliable Indicator of Real Exchange Rate Misalignment in Developing Countries?" *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41, pp. 55–75.
- Nagayasu, Jun, 1998, "Does the Long-Run PPP Hypothesis Hold for Africa?: Evidence from Panel Co-Integration Study," *Bulletin of Economic Research*, Vol. 54 (April), pp. 181–87.
- Ostry, Jonathan D., and Peter Montiel, 1993, "Real Exchange Rate Targeting in Developing Countries," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 93/2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Poirson, Hélène, 2001, "How Do Countries Choose Their Exchange Rate Regime?" IMF Working Paper 01/46 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Reinhart, Carmen, and Kenneth Rogoff, 2002, "The Modern History of Exchange Rate Arrangements: A Reinterpretation," NBER Working Paper No. 8963 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research).
- Sarno, Lucio, and Mark Taylor, 2002, "Purchasing Power Parity and the Real Exchange Rate," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 49 (April), pp. 65–105.
- Sorsa, Piritta, 1999, "Algeria—The Real Exchange Rate, Export Diversification, and Trade Protection, IMF Working Paper 99/49 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sundararajan, V., Michel Lazare, and Sherwyn Williams, 1999, "Exchange Rate Unification, the Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate, and Choice of Exchange Rate Regime—The Case of the Islamic Republic of Iran," IMF Working Paper 99/15 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tokarick, Stephen, 1995, "External Shocks, the Real Exchange Rate, and Tax Policy," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 42 (March), pp. 49–79.
- Wickham, Peter, 2002, "Do 'Flexible' Exchange Rates of Developing Countries Behave Like Floating Exchange Rates of Industrialized Countries?" IMF Working Paper 02/82 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Terms of Trade (pp. 26–27)

- Cashin, Paul, and C. John McDermott, 2002, "Terms of Trade Shocks and the Current Account," *Open Economics Review*, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 219–36.
- ———, 2003, "Intertemporal Substitution and Terms of Trade Shocks," *Review of International Economics*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 604–18.
- ———, 2004, "Terms of Trade Shocks in Africa: Are They Short-Lived or Long-Lived?" *Journal of Development Economics*, forthcoming; also, 2000, IMF Working Paper 00/72 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, and Catherine Pattillo, 2000, "The Duration of Terms of Trade Shocks in Sub-Saharan Africa," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 37 (June), pp. 26–29.
- Dodzin, Sergei, and Athanasios Vamvakidis, 1999, "Trade and Industrialization in Developing Agricultural Economies," IMF Working Paper 99/145 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kose, Ayhan M., and Raymond Riezman, 1992, "The Effects of Macroeconomic Shocks in a Basic Equilibrium Framework," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39 (December), pp. 855–89.
- ———, 1995, "The Terms of Trade, the Real Exchange Rate and Economic Fluctuations," *International Economic Review*, Vol. 36, (February), pp. 101–37.
- ———, 1997, "Terms of Trade Uncertainty and Economic Growth," Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 54 (December), pp. 323–56.
- ———, 2001, "Trade Shocks and Macroeconomic Fluctuations in Africa," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 65, No. 1, pp. 55–81
- Ostry, Jonathan D., and Sebastian Edwards, 1992, "Terms of Trade Disturbances, Real Exchange Rates and Welfare: The Role of Capital Controls and Labor Market Distortions," *Oxford Economic Papers*, Vol. 44 (January), pp. 20–34.
- Ostry, Jonathan D., and Carmen Reinhart, 1994, "Private Saving and Terms of Trade Shocks: Evidence from Developing Countries," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39 (September), pp. 495–517.
- Senhadji, Abdelhak, 1998, "Dynamics of the Trade Balance and the Terms of Trade in LDCs: The S-Curve," *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 46 (October), pp. 105–31.

Spatafora, Nicola, and Andrew Warner, 1999, "Macroeconomic and Sectoral Effects of Terms-of-Trade Shocks—The Experience of the Oil-Exporting Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 99/134 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Current Accounts (p. 27)

- Adedeji, Olumuyiwa, 2001a, "The Size and Sustainability of the Nigerian Current Account," IMF Working Paper 01/87 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2001b, "Consumption-Based Interest Rate and the Present-Value Model of the Current Account—Evidence from Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 01/93 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berg, Andrew, and Catherine Pattillo, 1999, "Are Currency Crises Predictable? A Test," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 46 (June), pp. 107–38.
- Besanger, Serge, Ross S. Guest, and Ian McDonald, 2000, "Demographic Change in Asia—The Impact on Optimal National Saving, Investment, and the Current Account," IMF Working Paper 00/115 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calderón, César, Alberto Chong, and Luisa Zanforlin, 2001, "Are African Current Account Deficits Different? Stylized Facts, Transitory Shocks, and Decomposition Analysis," IMF Working Paper 01/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Callen, Timothy, and Paul Cashin, 2002, "Capital Controls, Capital Flows and External Crises: Evidence from India," *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, Vol. 11 (March), pp. 77–98.
- Cerra, Valerie, and Sweta Chaman Saxena, 2002, "What Caused the 1991 Currency Crisis in India?" *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 49 (September), pp. 395–425.
- Chinn, Menzie, and Eswar S. Prasad, 2003, "Medium-Term Determinants of Current Accounts in Developing and Industrial Countries: An Empirical Exploration, *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 59, No. 1, pp. 47–76.
- Debelle, Guy, and Hamid Faruqee, 1996, "What Determines the Current Account? A Cross-Sectional and Panel Approach," IMF Working Paper 96/58 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ghosh, Atish R., and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1994, "Export Instability and the External Balance in Developing Countries," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41, pp. 214–35.
- ———, 1997a, "The Current Account in Developing Countries: A Perspective from the Consumption-Smoothing Approach," *World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 301–33.
- ———, 1997b, "Macroeconomic Uncertainty, Precautionary Savings and the Current Account," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 121–39.
- Isard, Peter, Hamid Faruqee, G. Russell Kincaid, and Martin J. Fetherston, 2001, Methodology for Current Account and Exchange Rate Assessments, IMF Occasional Paper No. 209 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kandil, Magda, M. Bahmani-Oskooee, and S. Chomisisengphet, 2002, "Are Devaluations Contractionary in Asia?" *Journal of Post-Keynesian Economics*, Vol. 25 (Fall), pp. 69–82.
- Knight, Malcolm, and F. Scacciavillani, 1998, "Current Accounts: What Is Their Relevance for Economic Policymaking?" IMF Working Paper 98/71 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lane, Phillip, and Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, 2001, "The External Wealth of Nations: Measures of Foreign Assets and Liabilities for Industrial and Developing Countries," *Journal of International Eco*nomics, Vol. 55 (December), pp. 263–94.
- Milesi-Ferretti, Gian Maria, and Assaf Razin, 1996a, "Current Account Sustainability," Princeton Studies in International Finance, No. 81 (Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton, Department of Economics).
- ———, 1996b, "Current Account Sustainability—Selected East Asian and Latin American Experiences," IMF Working Paper 96/110 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1998, "Sharp Reductions in Current Account Deficits: An Empirical Analysis," *European Economic Review*, Vol. 42, Nos. 3–5, pp. 897–908.
- ———, 2000, "Current Account Reversals and Currency Crises: Empirical Regularities," in *Currency Crises*, ed. by Paul Krugman (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Mussa, Michael, and Miguel Savastano, 2000, "The IMF Approach to Economic Stabilization," NBER Macroeconomics Annual 1999, Vol. 14 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau for Economic Research), pp. 79–122.

Ostry, Jonathan, 1997, "Current Account Imbalances in ASEAN Countries: Are They a Problem?" IMF Working Paper 97/51 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

External Trade (pp. 27–28)

- Agénor, Pierre-Richard, and Joshua Aizenmann, 1996, "Trade Liberalization and Unemployment," *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, Vol. 5 (November), pp. 265–86.
- Al-Atrash, Hassan M., and Tarik Yousef, 2000, "Intra-Arab Trade—Is It Too Little?" IMF Working Paper 00/10 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Alonso-Gamo, Patricia, Susan Fennell, and Khaled Sakr, 1997, "Adjusting to New Realities: MENA, The Uruguay Round, and the EU–Mediterranean Initiative," IMF Working Paper 97/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Arora, Vivek B., and Manmohan Kumar, 1994, "Trade Reform and Inflation Stabilization," IMF Working Paper 94/130 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Asilis, Carlos M., and Luis A. Rivera-Batiz, 1994, "Geography, Trade Patterns, and Economic Policy," IMF Working Paper 94/16 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Baban, R., and J. Greene, 1992, "Export Performance in Sub-Saharan Africa, 1970–90: A Survey," IMF Working Paper 92/55 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bannister, Geoffrey J., and Kamau Thugge, 2001, "International Trade and Poverty Alleviation," IMF Working Paper 01/54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bayoumi, Tamim, and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1997, "Macroeconomic Shocks and Trade Flows Within Sub-Saharan Africa: Implications for Optimum Currency Arrangements," *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 412–44.
- Berezin, Peter, Ali Salehizadeh, and Elcior Santana, 2002, "The Challenge of Diversification in the Caribbean," IMF Working Paper 02/196 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berg, Andrew, and Anne O. Krueger, 2002a, "Trade, Growth and Poverty: A Selective Survey," paper presented at the Annual Bank Conference on Development Economics, Washington (April).

- ——, 2002b, "Why Openness Helps Curb Poverty," Finance & Development, Vol. 39 (September), pp. 16–19.
- Bevan, D., 1995, "Fiscal Implications of Trade Liberalization," IMF Working Paper 95/50 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bhattacharya, Rina, 1999, "Political Economy Aspects of Trade and Financial Liberalization—Implications for Sequencing," IMF Working Paper 99/159 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Blavy, Rodolphe, 2001, "Trade in the Mashreq: An Empirical Examination," IMF Working Paper 01/163 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Blejer, Mario I., Mohsin Khan, and Paul Masson, 1995, "Early Contributions of Staff Papers to International Economics," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 42 (December), pp. 707–33.
- Brender, Adi, 1992, "China's Foreign Trade Behavior in the 1980s— An Empirical Analysis," IMF Working Paper 92/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo, and Enrique G. Mendoza, 1994, "Trade Reforms of Uncertain Duration and Real Uncertainty: A First Approximation," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41 (December), pp. 555–86.
- Caramazza, Francesco, and Luca A. Ricci, 2000, "Trade and Financial Contagion in Currency Crises," IMF Working Paper 00/55 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Catão, Luis, and Elisabetta Falcetti, 2002, "Determinants of Argentina's External Trade," *Journal of Applied Economics*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 19–57.
- Cerra, Valerie, and Chaman Saxena Sweta, 2002, "An Empirical Analysis of China's Export Behavior," IMF Working Paper 02/200 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Choudhri, Ehsan U., and Dalia S. Hakura, 2000, "International Trade and Productivity Growth: Exploring the Sectoral Effects for Developing Countries," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 47, No. 1, pp. 30–53.
- Coe, David T., and A. Hoffmaister, 1999, "North–South Trade: Is Africa Unusual?" *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 8 (July), pp. 228–56.
- de Mello, Luiz, and Kiichiro Fukasaku, 2000, "Trade and Foreign Direct Investment in Latin America and Southeast Asia: Temporal Causality Analysis," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 12, No. 7, pp. 903–24.

- Ebrill, Liam, Janet Stotsky, and Reint Gropp, 1999, *Revenue Implications of Trade Liberalization*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 180 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Egoumé-Bossogo, Philippe, and Chandima Mendis, 2002, "Trade and Integration in the Caribbean," IMF Working Paper 02/148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Eiteljorge, U., and C. Shiells, 1995, "The Uruguay Round and Net Food Importers," IMF Working Paper 95/143 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- El-Naggar, Said, ed., 1996, *The Uruguay Round and the Arab Countries* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Faini, Riccardo, Jean-Marie Grether, and Jaime de Mello, 1999, "Globalization and Migratory Pressures from Developing Countries: A Simulation Analysis," in *Trade and Labour Migration: The Controversies and the Evidence*, ed. by Riccardo Faini, Jaime de Melo, and K. Zimmermann (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Giorgianni, Lorenzo, and Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, 1997, "Determinants of Korean Trade Flows and Their Geographical Destination," IMF Working Paper 97/54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hakura, Dalia, and F. Jaumotte, 2001, "The Role of Trade in Technology Diffusion," in *Policies to Promote Competitiveness in Manufacturing in Sub-Saharan Africa*, ed. by Saleh M. Nsouli, Augustin Kwasi Fosu, and Aristomene Varoudakis (Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development), pp. 73–95.
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Peter Kunzel, 1997, "Intra-Industry Trade of Arab Countries: An Indicator of Potential Competitiveness," IMF Working Paper 97/47 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hoffmaister, Alexander, 1992, "The Cost of Export Subsidies: Evidence from Costa Rica," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 39, pp. 148–74.
- ——, Mahmood Pradhan, and Hossein Samiei, 1998, "Have North–South Growth Linkages Changed?" World Development, Vol. 26 (May), pp. 791–808.
- Hussain, Mumtaz, and Steven Radelet, 2000, "Export Competitiveness in Asia," in *Asian Financial Crisis: Lessons for a Resilient Asia*, ed. by Jeffrey Sachs (Cambridge, Massachusetts and London: MIT Press).
- Iqbal, Zubair, and Mohsin Khan, eds., 1998, *Trade Reform and Regional Integration in Africa* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Jonsson, Gunnar, and Arvind Subramanian, 2001, "Dynamic Gains from Trade: Evidence from South Africa," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 48 (December), pp. 197–224.
- Kanaan, Oussama, 2000, "Tanzania's Experience with Trade Liberalization," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 37 (June), pp. 30–33.
- Khan, Mahmood Hasan, 2000, "Rural Poverty in Developing Countries: Issues and Policies," IMF Working Paper 00/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Mohsin S. Khan, 1995, "Agricultural Growth in Sub-Saharan African Countries and China," *Pakistan Development Review*, Vol. 34, No. 4, pp. 429–50.
- Kim, Se-Jik, and Yong Jin Kim, 1999, "Growth Gains from Trade and Education," IMF Working Paper 99/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kose, M. Ayhan, and Raymond Riezman, 2000, "Understanding the Welfare Implications of Preferential Trade Agreements," *Review of International Economics*, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 619–33.
- Kose, M. Ayhan, and Kei-Mu Yi, 2001, "International Trade and Business Cycles," *American Economic Review*, Vol. 91, No. 2, pp. 371–75.
- Lankes, Hans Peter, 2002, "Market Access for Developing Countries," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 39, No. 3 (September), pp. 8–13.
- Lee, Jong-Wha, 1992, "International Trade, Distortions, and Long-Run Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 92/90 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1997, "Trade Barriers and Trade Flows Across Countries and Industries," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 79, No. 3, pp. 372–82.
- Loungani, Prakash, 2000, "Comrades or Competitors? Trade Links Between China and Other East Asian Economies," Finance & Development, Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 34–36.
- MacDonald, Ronald, and Luca Ricci, 2002, "Purchasing Power Parity and New Trade Theory," IMF Working Paper 02/32 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Oliva, Maria-Angela, 2000, "Estimation of Trade Protection in Middle East and North African Countries," IMF Working Paper 00/27 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Prasad, Eswar, 1999, "International Trade and the Business Cycle," *Economic Journal*, Vol. 109, No. 458, pp. 588–606.

- ——, and Jeffery Gable, 1998, "International Evidence on the Determinants of Trade Dynamics," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (September), pp. 401–39.
- Ramcharan, Rodney, 2002, "Money, Meat, and Inflation: Using Price Data to Understand an Export Shock in Sudan," IMF Working Paper 02/84 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Reinhart, Carmen M., 1995, "Devaluation, Relative Prices, and International Trade: Evidence from Developing Countries," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 42, No. 2, pp. 290–312.
- Rousslang, Donald J., and Stephen P. Tokarick, 1994, "The Trade and Welfare Consequences of U.S. Export-Enhancing Tax Provisions," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41, No. 3, pp. 555–86.
- Senhadji, Abdelhak S., and Claudio E. Montenegro, 1999, "Time Series Analysis of Export Demand Equations: A Cross-Country Analysis," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 46 (September), pp. 259–73.
- Sharer, Robert, 1999, "Issues for the New Millennium—Trade: An Engine of Growth for Africa," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 36 (December), pp. 26–29.
- Söderling, Ludvig, 2002, "Escaping the Curse of Oil? The Case of Gabon," IMF Working Paper 02/93 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sorsa, Piritta, 1995, "The Burden of Sub-Saharan African Own Commitments in the Uruguay Round: Myth or Reality?" IMF Working Paper 95/48 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Stotsky, Janet, Esther Suss, and Stephen Tokarick, 2000, "Trade Liberalization in the Carribean," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 37 (June), pp. 22–25.
- Subramanian, Arvind, and Trevor S. Alleyne, 2001, "What Does South Africa's Pattern of Trade Say About Its Labor Markets?" IMF Working Paper 01/148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Subramanian, Arvind, Enrique Gelbard, Richard Harmsen, Katrin Elborgh-Woytek, and Piroska Nagy, 2000, *Trade and Trade Policies in Eastern and Southern Africa*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 196 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Subramanian, Arvind, and Natalia Tamirisa, 2001, "Africa's Trade Revisited," IMF Working Paper 01/33 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Tamirisa, Natalia, 1999, "Exchange and Capital Controls as Barriers to Trade," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 46 (March), pp. 69–98.
- Vamvakidis, Athanasios, 1999, "Regional Trade Agreements or Broad Liberalization: Which Path Leads to Faster Growth?" *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 46 (March), pp. 42–68.
- ———, 2002, "How Robust Is the Growth-Openness Connection? Historical Evidence," *Journal of Economic Growth*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 57–80.
- Van Rijckeghem, Caroline, and Beatrice Weder, 2001, "Sources of Contagion: Is It Finance or Trade?" *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 54, No. 2, pp. 293–308.
- Wei, Shang-Jin, 2002, "Is Globalization Good for the Poor in China?" Finance & Development, Vol. 39, No. 3, pp. 26–29.
- Yang, Yongzheng, 2002, "Export Competition in Asia and the Role of China," in *Developing Countries in the World Trading System: The Uruguay Round and Beyond*, ed. by R. Adhikabi and P. Athukorala (Cheltenham, U.K.: Edward Elgar).
- Yuan, M., and Kalpana Kochhar, 1994, "China's Imports: An Empirical Analysis Using Johansen's Cointegration Approach," IMF Working Paper 94/145 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Monetary, Exchange Policy, and Financial Market Issues (pp. 28–30)

- Adedeji, Olumuyiwa S., 2001, "Consumption-Based Interest Rate and the Present-Value Model of the Current Account—Evidence from Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 01/93 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Agénor, Pierre-Richard, 1991, "Credibility and Exchange Rate Management in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 91/87 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Mohsin S. Khan, 1992, "Foreign Currency Deposits and the Demand for Money in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 92/01 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Aghevli, Bijan B., Mohsin S. Khan, and Peter J. Montiel, 1991, *Exchange Rate Policy in Developing Countries: Some Analytical Issues*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ball, Sheryl, and Andrew Feltenstein, 2001, "Bank Failures and Fiscal Austerity: Policy Prescriptions for a Developing Country," *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 82 (November), pp. 247–70.
- Barajas Estrada, Adolfo, and Roberto Steiner, 2002, "Credit Stagnation in Latin America," IMF Working Paper 02/53 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bayoumi, Tamim, and Ronald MacDonald, 1998, "Deviations of Exchange Rates from Purchasing Power Parity—A Story Featuring Two Monetary Unions," IMF Working Paper 98/69 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bayoumi, Tamim, and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1995, "Macroeconomic Shocks and Trade Flows Within Sub-Saharan Africa: Implications for Optimum Currency Arrangements," IMF Working Paper 95/142 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Beaugrand, Philippe, 1997, "Zaire's Hyperinflation, 1990–96," IMF Working Paper 97/50 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bhattacharya, Rina, 2000, "Trade and Domestic Financial Market Reform Under Political Uncertainty—Implications for Investment, Savings, and the Real Exchange Rate," IMF Working Paper 00/175 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Boughton, James M., 1991, "The CFA Franc Zone: Currency Union and Monetary Standard," IMF Working Paper 91/133 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bouley, Dominique, Jerome Fournel, and Luc E. Leruth, 2002, "How Do Treasury Systems Operate in Sub-Saharan Francophone Africa?" IMF Working Paper 02/58 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cady, John, 2003, "The Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate of the Malagasy Franc: Estimation and Assessment," IMF Working Paper 03/28 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo, and Manmohan S. Kumar, 1994, "Money Demand, Bank Credit, and Economic Performance in Former Socialist Economies," IMF Working Paper 94/03 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Canetti, Elie, and Joshua Greene, 1991, "Monetary Growth and Exchange Rate Depreciation as Causes of Inflation in African Countries: An Empirical Analysis," IMF Working Paper 91/67 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Celasun, Oya, and Mangal Goswami, 2002, "An Analysis of Money Demand and Inflation in the Islamic Republic of Iran," IMF Working Paper 02/205 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cerra, Valerie, and Sweta Chaman Saxena, 2000, "What Caused the 1991 Currency Crisis in India?" IMF Working Paper 00/157 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Clement, Jean A. P., Johannes Mueller, Stephane Cosse, and Jean Le Dem, 1996, *Aftermath of the CFA Franc Devaluation*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 138 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Creane, Susan, Rishi Goyal, A. Mushfiq Mobarak, and Randa Sab, 2003, "Banking on Development: Further Reform of Financial Sectors Holds Promise for MENA Countries," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 40 (March), pp. 26–29.
- De Gregorio, José, and Pablo E. Guidotti, 1992, "Financial Development and Economic Growth," IMF Working Paper 92/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Di Calogero, Robert, Wilhem K. Nahr, and John B. McLenaghan, 1992, "Money and Banking Statistics in Former Soviet Union (FSU) Economies," IMF Working Paper 92/103 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dodsworth, John, Ajai Chopra, Chi D. Pham, and Hisanobu Shishido, 1996, "Macroeconomic Experiences of the Transition Economies in Indochina," IMF Working Paper 96/112 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Egoumé-Bossogo, Philippe, 2000, "Money Demand in Guyana," IMF Working Paper 00/119 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Eichengreen, Barry, Paul Masson, Hugh Bredenkamp, Barry Johnston, Javier Hamann, Esteban Jadresic, and Inci Otker, 1998, *Exit Strategies: Policy Options for Countries Seeking Exchange Rate Flexibility*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 168 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Erbas, Nuri S., 2002, "The Role of Affordable Mortgages in Improving Living Standards and Stimulating Growth: A Survey of Selected MENA Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/17 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Guillaume, Dominique, and D. Stasavage, 2000, "Improving Policy Credibility: The Case for African Monetary Unions, World Development, Vol. 28, No. 8, pp. 1391–1407.

- Gulde, Anne-Marie, 1991, "Sri Lanka—Price Changes and the Poor," IMF Working Paper 91/46 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hadjimichael, Michael T., and Michel Galy, 1997, "The CFA Franc Zone and the EMU," IMF Working Paper 97/156 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hansen, Leif, Robert Christiansen, Yan Sun, Vassili Prokopenko, Tatsiya Karai, and Christoph Rosenberg, 2000, *Republic of Uzbekistan Recent Economic Developments*, IMF Staff Country Report No. 00/36 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hartmann, Philipp, 1994, "Foreign Exchange Risk Regulation: Issues for Industrial and Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 94/141 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Henstridge, Mark N., 1999, "Demonetization, Inflation and Coffee: The Demand for Money in Uganda," *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp. 345–85.
- Hernández-Catá, Ernesto, and Staff Team, 1998, *The West African Economic and Monetary Union: Recent Developments and Policy Issues*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 170 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Holden, Paul, and Vassili Prokopenko, 2001, "Financial Development and Poverty Alleviation: Issues and Policy Implications for Developing and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Honohan, Patrick, and Stephen A. O'Connell, 1997, "Contrasting Monetary Regimes in Africa," IMF Working Paper 97/64 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hossain, Akhtar, 2002, "Exchange Rate Responses to Inflation in Bangladesh," IMF Working Paper 02/166 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- International Monetary Fund, Middle East Department, 2002, "Financial Sector Reforms in Pakistan," *Selected Issues for the 2002 Article IV Consultation Discussions with Pakistan* (Washington).
- Ize, Alain, 1996, "Capital Inflows in the Baltic Countries, Russia, and Other Countries of the Former Soviet Union: Monetary and Prudential Issues," IMF Working Paper 96/22 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Jahjah, Samir, 2001, "Financial Stability and Fiscal Crises in a Monetary Union," IMF Working Paper 01/201 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Jbili, Abdelali, and Vitali Kramarenko, 2003, "Should MENA Countries Float or Peg?" *Finance & Development*, Vol. 40 (March).
- Jenkins, Carolyn, 1999, "Money Demand and Stabilisation in Zimbabwe," *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 8 (October), pp. 386–421.
- Juan-Ramón, V. Hugo, Ruby E. Randall, and Oral Williams, 2001, "A Statistical Analysis of Banking Performance in the Caribbean Currency Union in the 1990s," IMF Working Paper 01/105 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Keller, Peter, and Thomas Richardson, 2003, "Nominal Anchors in the CIS," IMF Working Paper 03/179 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1991, "Response of the Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate to Real Disturbances in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 91/03 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kletzer, Kenneth, and Renu Kohli, 2001, "Financial Repression and Exchange Rate Management in Developing Countries: Theory and Empirical Evidence for India," IMF Working Paper 01/103 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Knight, Malcolm, 1998, "Developing Countries and Globalization of Financial Markets," IMF Working Paper 98/105 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kocherlakota, Narayana, and Thomas Krueger, 1998, "Why Do Different Countries Use Different Currencies?" IMF Working Paper 98/17 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kohli, Renu, 2001, "Capital Flows and Their Macroeconomic Effects in India," IMF Working Paper 01/192 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Krichene, Noureddine, 1998, "Purchasing Power Parities in Five East African Countries—Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda," IMF Working Paper 98/148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Loungani, Prakash N., and Phillip L. Swagel, 2001, "Sources of Inflation in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/198 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Marston, David, 1995, "Financial Sector Reform in Jamaica during 1985–92: Possible Lessons for the Caribbean," IMF Working Paper 95/90 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Masson, Paul R., and Catherine Pattillo, 2001a, "Monetary Union in West Africa—An Agency of Restraint for Fiscal Policies?" IMF Working Paper 01/34 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 2001b, *Monetary Union in West Africa (ECOWAS)*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 204 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mlachila, Montfort P., and Ephraim W. Chirwa, 2002, "Financial Reforms and Interest Rate Spreads in the Commercial Banking System in Malawi," IMF Working Paper 02/06 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mongardini, Joannes, and Johannes Mueller, 1999, "Rachet Effects in Currency Substitution—An Application to the Kyrgyz Republic," IMF Working Paper 99/102 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Montiel, Peter, 1990, "The Transmission Mechanism for Monetary Policy in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 90/47 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Moser, Gary G., 1994, "The Main Determinants of Inflation in Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 94/76 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nachega, Jean-Claude, 2001a, "A Co-integration Analysis of Broad Money Demand in Cameroon," IMF Working Paper 01/26 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2001b, "Financial Liberalization, Money Demand, and Inflation in Uganda," IMF Working Paper 01/118 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nashashibi, Karim, and Stefania Bazzoni, 1993, "Alternative Exchange Rate Strategies and Fiscal Performance in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 93/68 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Piñón-Farah, Marco, 1998, "Demand for Money in Mozambique—Was There a Structural Break?" IMF Working Paper 98/157 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Poirson, Hélène, 2001, "How Do Countries Choose Their Exchange Rate Regime?" IMF Working Paper 01/46 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Randall, Ruby, 1998, "Interest Rate Spreads in the Eastern Caribbean," IMF Working Paper 98/59 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Riechel, Klaus-Walter, 2001, "Financial Sector Regulation and Supervision: The Case of Small Pacific Island Countries," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 01/6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002, "Public Financial Management: Principal Issues in Small Pacific Island Countries," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 02/1 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rosenberg, Christoph B., and Maarten de Zeeuw, 2000, "Welfare Effects of Uzbekistan's Foreign Exchange Regime," IMF Working Paper 00/61 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ross, Kevin, 1998, "Post-Stabilization Inflation Dynamics in Slovenia," IMF Working Paper 98/27 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rother, Philipp, 1998, "Money Demand and Regional Monetary Policy in the West African Economic and Monetary Union," IMF Working Paper 98/57 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1999, "Money Demand in the West African Economic and Monetary Union: The Problems of Aggregation," *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 8, No. 3.
- Sundararajan, V., Michel Lazare, and Sherwyn Williams, 1999, "Exchange Rate Unification, the Equilibrium Real Exchange Rate, and Choice of Exchange Rate Regime—The Case of the Islamic Republic of Iran," IMF Working Paper 99/15 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Williams, Oral, Tracy Polius-Mounsey, and Selvon Hazel, 2001, "Reserve Pooling in the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union and the CFA Franc Zone: A Comparative Analysis," IMF Working Paper 01/104 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Yossifov, Plamen, 2002, "The Use of Credit Ceilings in the Presence of Indirect Monetary Instruments: An Analytical Framework," IMF Working Paper 02/206 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Structural Reforms and Poverty Reduction (pp. 30-34)

- Abed, George T., and Hamid Davoodi, 2000, "Corruption, Structural Reforms, and Economic Performance in Transition Economies," IMF Working Paper 00/132 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Abed, George T., and Sanjeev Gupta, eds., 2002, *Governance, Corruption, and Economic Performance* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ahmad, S. Ehtisham, and Nigel Chalk, 1993, "On Improving Public Expenditure Policies for the Poor—Major Informational Requirements," IMF Working Paper 93/43 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Alleyne, Trevor, and Arvind Subramanian, 2001, "What Does South Africa's Pattern of Trade Say About Its Labor Market?" IMF Working Paper 01/148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Badiane, Ousmane, Dhaneshwar Ghura, Louis Goreux, and Paul Masson, 2002, "Cotton Sector Strategies in West and Central Africa," IMF Working Paper 02/173 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Barba Navaretti, Giorgio, Riccardo Faini, and Giovanni Zanaldo, 1998, Labour Markets, Poverty and Development (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- Barnett, Steven, 2000, "Evidence on the Fiscal and Macroeconomic Impact of Privatization," IMF Working Paper 00/130 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Barth, Richard C., Alan R. Roe, and Chong-Huey Wong, 1994, "Coordinating Stabilization and Structural Reform," Proceedings of the Seminar on Coordination of Structural Reform and Macroeconomic Stabilization, Washington, June 17–26, 1993.
- Bennett, Adam, 2003, "Failed Legacies: Escaping the Ghosts of Central Planning," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 40 (March).
- Bhattacharya, Rina, 2000, "External Sector Reform and Public Enterprise Restructuring," IMF Working Paper 00/120 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bigsten, A., P. Collier, S. Dercon, M. Fafchamps, B. Gauthier, J. Gunning, R. Oostendorp, C. Pattillo, M. Soderbom, F. Teal, and A. Zeufack, 2000, "Rates of Return on Physical and Human Capital in Africa's Manufacturing Sector," *Economic Development* and Cultural Change, Vol. 48, No. 4, pp. 801–27.
- Bodart, Vincent, and Jean Le Dem, 1995, "Labor Market Representation in Quantitative Macroeconomic Models for Developing Countries: An Application to Côte d'Ivoire," IMF Working Paper 95/87 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Brixiová, Zuzana, Aleš Bulíř, and Joshua Comenetz, 2001, "The Gender Gap in Education in Eritrea in 1991–98: A Missed Opportunity?" IMF Working Paper 01/94 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Brooks, Ray, 2002, "Why Is Unemployment High in the Philippines?" IMF Working Paper 02/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bulíř, Aleš, 1998, "The Price Incentive to Smuggle and the Cocoa Supply in Ghana, 1950–96," IMF Working Paper 98/88 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chadha, Bankim, 1994, "Disequilibrium in the Labor Market in South Africa," IMF Working Paper 94/108 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chand, Sheetal K., and Karl O. Moene, 1997, "Controlling Fiscal Corruption," IMF Working Paper 97/100 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chander, Prakash, 2001, "Subsidy Reforms and Poverty Alleviation," IMF Working Paper 01/126 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Charap, Joshua, and Christian Harm, 1999, "Institutionalized Corruption and the Kleptocratic State," IMF Working Paper 99/91 (Washington: International Monetary Fund.
- Chopra, Ajai, Charles Collyns, Richard Hemming, Karen Parker, Woosik Chu, and Oliver Fratzscher, 1995, *India: Economic Reform and Growth*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 134 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dabla-Norris, Era, 2000, "A Game-Theoretic Analysis of Corruption in Bureaucracies," IMF Working Paper 00/106 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Andrew Feltenstein, 2003, "An Analysis of the Underground Economy and Its Macroeconomic Consequences," IMF Working Paper 03/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Davis, Jeffrey, Rolando Ossowski, Thomas Richardson, and Steven Barnett, 2000, *Fiscal and Macroeconomic Impact of Privatization*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 194 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- de Mello, Luiz, 2000, "Privatization and Corporate Governance in Brazil," in *Privatization in Brazil: The Case of Public Utilities*, ed. by A.C. Pinheiro and K. Fukasaku (Rio de Janeiro: OECD Development Center).
- ——, and Matias Barenstein, 2001, "Fiscal Decentralization and Governance: A Cross-Country Analysis," IMF Working Paper 01/71 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- de Mello, Luiz, and Randa Sab, 2000, "Government Spending, Rights, and Civil Liberties," IMF Working Paper 00/205 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- El-Erian, Mohamed A., and Shamsuddin Tareq, 1993, "Economic Reform in Arab Countries—A Review of Structural Issues for the Remainder of the 1990s," IMF Working Paper 93/39 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- El-Naggar, Said, 1988, "Privatization and Structural Adjustment in the Arab Countries," papers presented at a seminar held in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, December 5–7.
- Faini, Riccardo, Jaime de Melo, and Klaus Zimmermann, 1999, "Globalization and Migratory Pressures from Developing Countries: A Simulation Analysis," in *Migration: The Controversies and the Evidence* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Feltenstein, Andrew, and Saleh M. Nsouli, 2001, "Big Bang' Versus Gradualism in Economic Reforms: An Intertemporal Analysis with an Application to China," IMF Working Paper 01/98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gardner, Edward, 2003, "Wanted: More Jobs," Finance & Development, Vol. 40 (March), pp. 18–21.
- Ghura, Dhaneshwar, 1998, "Tax Revenue in Sub-Saharan Africa— Effects of Economic Policies and Corruption," IMF Working Paper 98/135 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Hamid Davoodi, and Rosa Alonso-Terme, 2002, "Does Corruption Affect Income Inequality and Poverty," *Economics of Governance*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 23–45.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Hamid Davoodi, and Erwin Tiongson, 2000, "Corruption and the Provision of Health Care and Education Services," IMF Working Paper 00/116 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); and *The Political Economy of Corruption*, ed. by A. Jain (London: Routledge).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Luiz de Mello, and Raja Sharan, 2001, "Corruption and Military Spending," *European Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 17 (November), pp. 749–77.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Christian Schiller, Henry Ma, and Erwin Tiongson, 2001, "Privatization, Labor, and Social Safety Nets," *Journal of Economic Surveys*, Vol. 15 (December), pp. 647–69.
- Haque, Nadeem U., and Jahangir Aziz, 1998, "The Quality of Governance: 'Second-Generation' Civil Service Reform in Africa," IMF Working Paper 98/164 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Haque, Nadeem U., and Ratna Sahay, 1996, "Do Government Wage Cuts Close Budget Deficits?—A Conceptual Framework for Developing Countries and Transition Economies," IMF Working Paper 96/19 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Donal McGettigan, 1999, "Privatization in Transition Countries: Lessons from the First Decade," *Economic Issues*, No. 18 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Ron van Rooden, 2000, "Institutions Matter in Transition, But So Do Policies," IMF Working Paper 00/70 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hemming, Richard, and Ali M. Mansoor, 1988, *Privatization and Public Enterprises*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 56 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Henstridge, Mark I., and Louis A. Kasekende, 2001, "Exchange Reforms, Stabilization, and Fiscal Management," in *Uganda's Recovery—The Role of Farms, Firms, and Government*, ed. by Ritva Reinikka and Paul Collier (Washington: World Bank), pp. 49–79.
- Husain, Aasim M., and Ratna Sahay, 1992, "Does Sequencing of Privatization Matter in Reforming Planned Economies?" IMF Working Paper 92/13 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- IMF and World Bank, 2001, Civil Service Reform: Strengthening World Bank and IMF Collaboration (Washington: World Bank).
- Lele, Uma, James Gockowski, and Kofi Adu-Nyako, 1994, "Economics, Politics, and Ethics of Primary Commodity Development: How Can Poor Countries in Africa Benefit the Most?" IMF Working Paper 94/23 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Leruth, Luc, Jean-Marie Baland, and Jean Dreze, 1999, "Daily Wages and Piece Rates in Agrarian Economies," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 59, No. 2, pp. 445–61.
- Lian, P., and Shang-Jin Wei, 1998, "To Shock or Not to Shock: Economics and Political Economy of Large-Scale Reforms," *Economics and Politics*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 161–83.
- Lienert, Ian, and Jitendra R. Modi, 1997, "A Decade of Civil Service Reform in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 97/179 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mackenzie, George A., 1997, "The Macroeconomic Impact of Privatization," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 97/9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Mauro, Paolo, 1996, "The Effects of Corruption on Growth, Investment, and Government Expenditure," IMF Working Paper 96/98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 1997, "Why Worry About Corruption?" *Economic Issues*, No. 6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Odedokun, Matthew, 1992, "Multi-Country Evidence on the Effects of Macroeconomic, Financial, and Trade Policies on Efficiency of Resource Utilization in the Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 92/53 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pastor, Gonzalo, and Ron van Rooden, 2000, "Turkmenistan—The Burden of Current Agricultural Policies," IMF Working Paper 00/98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Poirson, Hélène, 2001, "The Impact of Intersectoral Labor Reallocation on Growth in Developing Countries," *Journal of African Economies*, (March), pp. 37–63.
- Ramcharan, Rodney, 2002, "How Does Conditional Aid (Not) Work?" IMF Working Paper 02/183 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Slaughter, Matthew, and Phillip R. Swagel, 1997, "Does Globalization Lower Wages and Export Jobs?" *Economic Issues*, No. 11 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tanzi, Vito, 1998, "Corruption Around the World: Causes, Consequences, Scope, and Cures," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (December), pp. 559–94.
- ——, and Hamid Davoodi, 1998a, "Corruption, Public Investment, and Growth," in *The Welfare State, Public Investment and Growth*, ed. by H. Sgibata and T. Ihori (Tokyo: Springer).
- ———, 1998b, "Roads to Nowhere: How Corruption in Public Investment Hurts Growth," *Economic Issues*, No. 12 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2001, "Corruption, Growth, and Public Finances," in *Political Economy of Corruption*, ed. by Arvind K. Jain (London: Routledge Publishing Co.).
- Van der Heeden, Koenraad, 1994, "The Pay-As-You-Earn Tax on Wages—Options for Developing Countries and Countries in Transition," IMF Working Paper 94/105 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Van Rijckeghem, Caroline, and Beatrice S. Weder, 2001, "Bureaucratic Corruption and the Rate of Temptation: Do Wages in the Civil Service Affect Corruption, and By How Much?" *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 65 (August), pp. 307–31.
- Wang, Jian-Ye, 1994, "Macroeconomic Policies and Smuggling: An Analysis of Illegal Oil Trade in Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 94/115 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Weder, Beatrice, 2001, "Institutional Reform in Transition Economies: How Far Have They Come?" IMF Working Paper 01/114 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Accessing Private Capital Markets (pp. 34-36)

- Basu, Anupam, and Krishna Srinivasan, 2002, "Foreign Direct Investment in Africa—Some Case Studies," IMF Working Paper 02/61 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bhattacharya, Amar, Peter J. Montiel, and Sunil Sharma, 1997, "How Can Sub-Saharan Africa Attract More Private Capital Flows?" *Finance & Development*, Vol. 34 (June), pp. 3–6.
- Bhattacharya, Rina, 1999, "Political Economy Aspects of Trade and Financial Liberalization—Implications for Sequencing," IMF Working Paper 99/159 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Callen, Timothy, and Paul Cashin, 2002, "Capital Controls, Capital Flows and External Crises: Evidence from India," *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, Vol. 11, pp. 77–98.
- Calvo, Guillermo, and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1998, "The Consequences and Management of Capital Inflows: Lessons for Sub-Saharan Africa," Expert Group on Development Issues (Stockholm: Almqvist and Wiksell International).
- Carlson, Mark, and Leonardo Hernández, 2002, "Determinants and Repercussions of the Composition of Capital Flows," International Finance Discussion Paper No. 717 (New York: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System).
- Cerra, Valerie, and Chaman Sweta Saxena, 2000, "Contagion, Monsoons, and Domestic Turmoil in Indonesia—A Case Study in the Asian Currency Crisis," IMF Working Paper 00/60 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Collier, Paul, Akne Hoeffler, and Catherine Pattillo, 2001, "Flight Capital as a Portfolio Choice," *World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 55–80.
- ——, 2002, "Africa's Exodus: Capital Flight and the Brain Drain as Portfolio Decisions" (unpublished; Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- de Mello, Luiz, and Khaled Hussein, 1999, "International Capital Mobility in Developing Countries: Theory and Evidence," *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 18 (June), pp. 367–81.
- Dooley, Michael P., Donald J. Mathieson, and Liliana Rojas-Suárez, 1996, "Capital Mobility and Exchange Market Intervention in Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 96/131 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Fuchs-Schündeln, Nicola, and Norbert Funke, 2001, "Stock Market Liberalizations: Financial and Macroeconomic Implications," IMF Working Paper 01/193 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Garibaldi, Pietro, Nada Mora, Ratna Sahay, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 2002, "What Moves Capital to Transition Economies?" *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 48 (May, Special Issue), pp. 109–145.
- Gelbard, Enrique, and Sergio Pereira Leite, 1999, "Measuring Financial Development in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 99/105 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ghosh, Atish R., and Jonathan D. Ostry, 1993, "Do Capital Flows Reflect Economic Fundamentals in Developing Countries?" IMF Working Paper 93/34 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Grilli, Vittorio, and Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, 1995, "Economic Effects and Structural Determinants of Capital Controls," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 42 (September), pp. 54–88.
- Habermeier, Karl, 2000, "India's Experience with the Liberalization of Capital Flows Since 1991," in *Capital Controls: Country Experiences With Their Use and Liberalization*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 190 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hernández, Leonardo F., Pamela Mellado, and Rodrigo O. Valdés, 2001, "Determinants of Private Capital Flows in the 1970s and 1990s—Is There Evidence of Contagion?" IMF Working Paper 01/64 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Holden, Paul, and Vassili Prokopenko, 2001, "Financial Development and Poverty Alleviation: Issues and Policy Implications for Developing

- and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- International Monetary Fund, 1995, "Private Market Financing for Developing Countries" (Washington).
- ———, International Capital Markets—Developments, Prospects, and Key Policy Issues (Washington, various issues).
- ———, World Economic Outlook (Washington, various issues).
- Johnston, R. Barry, Salim M. Darbar, and Claudia Echeverria, 1997, "Sequencing Capital Account Liberalization—Lessons from the Experiences in Chile, Indonesia, Korea, and Thailand," IMF Working Paper 97/157 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Johnston, R. Barry, and V. Sundararajan, 1992, "Issues in Managing and Sequencing Financial Sector Reforms: Lessons from Experiences in Five Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 92/82 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Chris Ryan, 1994, "The Impact of Controls on Capital Movements on the Private Capital Accounts of Countries' Balance of Payments: Empirical Estimates and Policy Implications," IMF Working Paper 94/78 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Johnston, R. Barry, and Natalia Tamirisa, 1998, "Why Do Countries Use Capital Controls?" IMF Working Paper 98/181 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1995, "Macroeconomics Management in APEC Economies: The Response to Capital Inflows," in *Capital Flows in the APEC Region*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 122 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Knight, Malcolm, 1998, "Developing Countries and the Globalization of Financial Markets," IMF Working Paper 98/105 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Koenig, Linda M., 1996, "Capital Inflows and Policy Responses in the ASEAN Region," IMF Working Paper 96/25 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kohli, Renu, 2001, "Capital Flows and Their Macroeconomic Effects in India," IMF Working Paper 01/192 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lane, Philip R., and Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti, 2002, "Long-Term Capital Movements," NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2001 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research), pp. 73–196.

- Le Gall, Françoise, and Saleh M. Nosouli, 2001, "The New International Financial Architecture and Africa," IMF Working Paper 01/130 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lybek, Tonny, 1999, "Central Bank Autonomy, and Inflation and Output Performance in the Baltic States, Russia, and Other Countries of the Former Soviet Union, 1995–1997," Russian and East European Finance and Trade, Vol. 35, No. 6.
- McHugh, Jimmy, 1999, "Capital Flows and External Debt," in *Economic Reforms in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 183 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mody, Ashoka, and Antu Murshid, 2002, "Growing Up With Capital Flows," IMF Working Paper 02/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Montiel, Peter, and Carmen M. Reinhart, 1999, "Do Capital Controls Influence the Volume and Composition of Capital Flows? Evidence from the 1990s," *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 619–35.
- Pill, Huw, and Mahmood Pradhan, 1995, "Financial Indicators and Financial Change in Africa and Asia," IMF Working Paper 95/123 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Quirk, Peter, 1994, "Capital Account Convertibility: A New Model for Developing Countries," IMF Working Paper 94/81 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rossi, Marco, 1999, "Financial Fragility and Economic Performance in Developing Economies: Do Capital Controls, Prudential Regulation, and Supervision Matter?" IMF Working Paper 99/66 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tamirisa, Natalia, 1998, "Exchange and Capital Controls as Barriers to Trade," IMF Working Paper 98/81 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Vamvakidis, Athanasios, and Romain Wcziarg, 1998, "Developing Countries and the Feldstein-Horioka Puzzle," IMF Working Paper 98/2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Wallace, Laura, 2000, Africa: Adjustment to the Challenges of Globalization (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Wei, Shang-Jin, 2000, "Local Corruption and Global Capital Flows," Brookings Papers on Economic Activity: 2, No. 2, Brookings Institution, pp. 303–54.
- ———, 2001, "Domestic Crony Capitalism and International Fickle Capital: Is There a Connection?" *International Finance*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 15–45.
- ——, and Yi Wu, forthcoming, "Negative Alchemy? Corruption, Composition of Capital Flows, and Currency Crises," in *Preventing Currency Crises*, ed. by Sebastian Edwards and Jeffrey Frankel (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Zebregs, Harm, 1998, "Can the Neoclassical Model Explain the Distribution of Foreign Direct Investment Across Developing Countries?" IMF Working Paper 98/139 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Other Issues (pp. 37-45)

Conditionality, Program Design, and Evaluation (pp. 37–38)

- Abed, George, Liam P. Ebrill, Sanjeev Gupta, Benedict Clements, Ronald McMorran, Anthony Pellechio, Jerald Schiff, and Marijn Verhoeven, 1998, Fiscal Reform in Low-Income Countries: Experience Under IMF-Supported Programs, IMF Occasional Paper No. 160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ames, Brian W., Ward Brown, Shanta Devarajan, and Alejandro Izquierdo, 2001, "Macroeconomic Policy and Poverty Reduction" (Washington: IMF–World Bank).
- Bannister, Geoffrey, and Kamau Thugge, 2001, "International Trade and Poverty Alleviation," IMF Working Paper 01/54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bigman, D., S. Dercon, Dominique Guillaume, and M. Lambotte, 2000, "Community Targeting for Poverty Reduction in Burkina Faso," *World Bank Economic Review*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 167–93.
- Boughton, James M., and Boris Bernstein, 1993, "Adjusting to Development: The IMF and the Poor," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 93/4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Boughton, James M., and Alex Mourmouras, 2002, "Is Policy Ownership an Operational Concept?" IMF Working Paper 02/72 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Bredenkamp, Hugh, and Susan Schadler, 1998, "Economic Adjustment and Reform in Low-Income Countries," ESAF Review Background Papers (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cordella, Tito, and Giovanni Dell'Ariccia, 2002, "Limits of Conditionality in Poverty Reduction Programs," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 49, Special IARC Issue, pp. 68–86.
- ———, 2003, "Budget Support versus Project Aid," IMF Working Paper 03/88 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Davoodi, Hamid, Benedict Clements, Jerald Schiff, and Peter Debaere, 2001, "Military Spending, the Peace Dividend, and Fiscal Adjustment," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 290–316.
- Dhonte, Pierre, 1997, "Conditionality as an Instrument of Borrower Credibility," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 97/2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dicks-Mireaux, Louis, Mauro Mecagni, and Susan Schadler, 1995, "The Macroeconomic Effects of ESAF-Supported Programs—Revisiting Some Methodological Issues," IMF Working Paper 95/92 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2000, "Evaluating the Effect of IMF Lending to Low-Income Countries," *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 61 (April), pp. 495–526.
- Fischer, Stanley, Ernesto Hernández-Catá, and Mohsin S. Khan, 1998, "Africa—Is This the Turning Point?" IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 98/6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Calvin McDonald, and Christian Schiller, 1998, *The IMF and the Poor*, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 52 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Louis Dicks-Mireaux, Ritha Khemani, Calvin McDonald, and Marijn Verhoeven, 2000, *Social Issues in IMF-Supported Programs*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 191 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Michael Keen, Benedict Clements, Kevin Fletcher, Luiz de Mello, and Muthukumara Mani, 2002a, *Fiscal Dimensions of Sustainable Development*, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Mark Plant, Benedict Clements, Thomas Dorsey, Emanuele Baldacci, Gabriela Inchauste, Shamsuddin Tareq, and Nita Thacker, 2002b, *Is the PRGF Living Up to Expectations? An Assessment of Program Design*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 216 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Haque, Nadeem U., and Mohsin S. Khan, 1998, "Do IMF-Supported Programs Work? A Survey of the Cross-Country Empirical Evidence," IMF Working Paper 98/169 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Heller, Peter, Lans Bovenberg, Thanos Catsambas, Ke-Young Chu, and Parthasarati Shome, 1988, The Implications of Fund-Supported Adjustment Programs for Poverty: Experiences in Selected Countries, IMF Occasional Paper No. 58 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hicks, Ronald, and Odd Per Brekk, 1991, "Assessing the Impact of Structural Adjustment on the Poor: The Case of Malawi," IMF Working Paper 91/112 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hossain, Shahabuddin M., 2003, "Taxation and Pricing of Petroleum Products in Developing Countries: A Framework for Analysis with Application to Nigeria," IMF Working Paper 03/42 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- International Monetary Fund, 1986, Fund-Supported Programs, Fiscal Policy, and Income Distribution, IMF Occasional Paper No. 46 (International Monetary Fund: Washington).
- Khan, Mahmood H., 2002, "Rural Poverty in Developing Countries: Implications for Public Policy," *Economic Issues*, No. 26 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Khan, Mohsin S., and Sunil Sharma, 2001, "IMF Conditionality and Country Ownership of Programs," IMF Working Paper 01/142 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Killick, Tony, 1982, Adjustment and Financing in the Developing World: The Role of the International Monetary Fund (Washington; London: IMF, in association with the Overseas Development Institute).
- Landell-Mills, Joslin, 1998, *Helping the Poor: The IMF's New Facilities for Structural Adjustment* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Lopes, Paulo S., and Emilio Sacerdoti, 1991, "Mozambique— Economic Rehabilitation and the Poor," IMF Working Paper 91/101 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mayer, Wolfgang, and Alex Mourmouras, 2002, "Vested Interests in a Positive Theory of IFI Conditionality," IMF Working Paper 02/73 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Moser, Gary G., 1997, Nigeria: Experience with Structural Adjustment, IMF Occasional Paper No. 148 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Nashashibi, Karim, Sanjeev Gupta, Claire Liuksila, Henri Lorie, and Walter Mahler, 1992, *The Fiscal Dimensions of Adjustment in Low-Income Countries*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 95 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ramcharan, Rodney, 2002, "How Does Conditional Aid (Not) Work?" IMF Working Paper 02/183 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 2003, "Reputation, Debt, and Policy Conditionality," IMF Working Paper (Washington: International Monetary Fund), forthcoming.
- Robb, Caroline M., 2002, Can the Poor Influence Policy? Participatory Poverty Assessments in the Developing World (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Alison M. Scott, 2001, "Reviewing Some Early Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers in Africa," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 01/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sacerdoti, Emilio, and Yuan Xiao, 2001, "Inflation Dynamics in Madagascar," IMF Working Paper 01/168 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Schadler, Susan, Adam Bennett, Maroa Carkovic, Louis Dicks-Mireaux, Mauro Mecagni, James H. J. Morsink, and Miguel A. Savastano, 1995, *IMF Conditionality: Experience Under Stand-By and Extended Arrangements*, "Part II: Background Papers," IMF Occasional Paper, No. 129 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Schadler, Susan, and Hugh Bredenkamp, 1997, *The ESAF at Ten Years: Economic Adjustment and Reform in Low-Income Countries*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 156 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Schadler, Susan, Frankel Rozwadowski, Siddharth Tiwari, and David O. Robinson, 1993, *Economic Adjustment in Low-Income Countries: Experience Under the Enhanced Structural Adjustment Facility*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 106 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Staff of the International Monetary Fund, 1995, Social Dimensions of the IMF's Policy Dialogue, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 47 (Washington).

External Debt and Aid (pp. 38–40)

Ajayi, S. Ibi, 1997, "An Analysis of External Debt and Capital Flight in the Severely Indebted Low-Income Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa," IMF Working Paper 97/68 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ——, and Mohsin S. Khan, eds., 2000, External Debt and Capital Flight in Sub-Saharan Africa (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bangura, Sheku, Damoni Kitabire, and Robert Powell, 2000, "External Debt Management in Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 00/196 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Beaugrand, Philippe, Boileau Loko, and Montfort P. Mlachila, 2002, "The Choice Between External and Domestic Debt in Financing Budget Deficits: The Case of Central and West African Countries," IMF Working Paper 02/79 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Boote, Anthony R., and Kamau Thugge, 1997, "Debt Relief for Low-Income Countries and the HIPC Initiative," IMF Working Paper 97/24 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bove, Jan, 1992, "Linkages Between External Debt Data and Balance of Payments, Government Finance and Monetary Statistics," IMF Working Paper 92/93 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Brooks, Ray, Mariano Cortes, Francesca Fornasari, Benoit Ketchekmen, and Ydahlia Metzgen, 1998, "External Debt Histories of Ten Low-Income Developing Countries—Lessons from Their Experience," IMF Working Paper 98/72 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Callen, Tim, and Paul Cashin, 1999, "Assessing External Sustainability in India," IMF Working Paper 99/181 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Carlson, John A., Aasim Husain, and Jeffrey A. Zimmerman, 1997, "Debt Reduction and New Loans: A Contracting Perspective," IMF Working Paper 97/95 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Claessens, S., Enrica Detragiache, Ravi Kanbur, and Peter Wickham, 1997, "HIPC Debt: A Review of the Issues," *Journal of African Economies*, Vol. 2 (July), pp. 231–54.
- Cordella, Tito, Giovanni Dell'Ariccia, and Kenneth Kletzer, 2003, "Conditional Aid, Sovereign Debt, and Debt Relief," paper presented at the American Economics Association Meeting, Washington, January.
- Daseking, Christina, and Robert Powell, 1999, "From Toronto Terms to the HIPC Initiative—A Brief History of Debt Relief for Low-Income Countries," IMF Working Paper 99/142 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dooley, Michael P., and Mark Stone, 1992, "Endogenous Creditor Seniority and External Debt Values," IMF Working Paper 92/57 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Greene, Joshua, 1992, "The Sub-Saharan African Debt Problem: An Update," IMF Working Paper 92/52 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, and Erwin Tiongson, 2003a, "Foreign Aid and Consumption Smoothing: Evidence from Global Food Aid," IMF Working Paper 03/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Benedict Clements, Alexander Pivovarsky, and Erwin Tiongson, 2003b, "Foreign Aid and Revenue Response: Does the Composition of Aid Matter?" IMF Working Paper 03/40 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Review of Development Economics*.
- Heller, Peter S., and Sanjeev Gupta, 2002a, "Challenges in Expanding Development Assistance," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 02/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002b, "More Aid—Making It Work for the Poor," World Economics, Vol. 3, No. 4, pp. 131–46.
- International Monetary Fund and World Bank, 2001, "Debt Relief for Poverty Reduction: The Role of the Enhanced HIPC Initiative" (Washington).
- Kapur, Ishan, and Emmanuel van der Mensbrugghe, 1997, "External Borrowing by the Baltics, Russia, and Other Countries of the Former Soviet Union," IMF Working Paper 97/72 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Nord, Roger, Michael Mered, Nisha Agrawal, and Zafar Ahmed, 1993, "Structural Adjustment, Economic Performance, and Aid Dependency in Tanzania," IMF Working Paper 93/66 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pattillo, Catherine A., Hélène K. Poirson, and Luca Ricci, 2002, "External Debt and Growth," IMF Working Paper 02/69 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ross, Doris C., and Lisandro Abrego, 2001, "Debt Relief Under the HIPC Initiative: Context and Outlook for Debt Sustainability and Resource Flow," IMF Working Paper 01/144 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Tsikata, Tsidi, 1998, "Aid Effectiveness—A Survey of the Recent Empirical Literature," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 98/1 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Fiscal Decentralization (pp. 40-41)

- Ahmad, Ehtisham, 1997, ed., Financing Decentralized Expenditures: An International Comparison of Grants (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar).
- ———, Li Keping, Thomas Richardson, and Raju Singh, 2002a, "Recentralization in China?" IMF Working Paper 02/168 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ahmad, Ehtisham, Jun Ma, Bob Searle, and Stefano Piperno, 2002b, "Intergovernmental Grants Systems and Management: Applications of a General Framework to Indonesia," IMF Working Paper 02/128 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ahmad, Ehtisham, and Ali Mansoor, 2002, "Indonesia: Managing Decentralization," IMF Working Paper 02/136 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ahmad, Ehtisham, Gao Qiang, Vito Tanzi, eds., 1995, *Reforming China's Public Finance* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ahmad, Ehtisham, and Vito Tanzi, eds., 2002, *Managing Fiscal Decentralization* (London: Routledge).
- Alfonso, José, and Luiz de Mello, 2002, "Brazil: An Evolving Federation," in *Managing Fiscal Decentralization*, ed. by Ehtisham Ahmad and Vito Tanzi (London and New York: Routledge).
- Baqir, Reza, 2001, "Districting and Government Overspending," IMF Working Paper (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bogetic, Carri Zeljko, and Janet Stotsky, 2000, Fiscal Federalism and Its Relevance in the Caribbean, Vol. 49, No. 2 (Kingston, Jamaica: University of the West Indies).
- Cuevas, Alfredo, 2003, "Reforming Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations in Argentina," IMF Working Paper 03/90 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Dabla-Norris, Era, and Paul Wade, 2002, "The Challenge of Fiscal Decentralization in Transition Economies," IMF Working Paper 02/103 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Davoodi, Hamid R., and Heng-Fu Zou, 1998, "Fiscal Decentralization and Economic Growth: A Cross-Country Analysis," *Journal of Urban Economics*, Vol. 43, pp. 244–57.
- de Mello, Luiz, 1999a, "Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations: Coordination Failures and Fiscal Outcomes," *Public Budgeting and Finance*, Vol. 19 (Spring), pp. 3–25.

- ——, 1999b, "Fiscal Federalism and Government Size in Transition Economies: The Case of Moldova," IMF Working Paper 99/176 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also, 2001, *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 255–68.
- ———, 2000a, "Fiscal Decentralization and Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations: A Cross-Country Analysis," *World Development*, Vol. 28 (February), pp. 365–80.
- ———, 2000b, "Can Fiscal Decentralization Strengthen Social Capital?" IMF Working Paper 00/129 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Matias Barenstein, 2001, "Fiscal Decentralization and Governance: A Cross-Country Analysis," IMF Working Paper 01/71 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Drummond, Paulo, Flavio Nacif, and Ali Mansoor, 2002, "Macroeconomic Management and the Devolution of Fiscal Powers," IMF Working Paper 02/76 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Keen, Michael, 1998, "Vertical Tax Externalities in the Theory of Fiscal Federalism," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45, No. 3, pp. 454–85.
- ——, and Christos Kotsogiannis, 2002, "Does Federalism Lead to Excessively High Tax Rates?" *American Economic Review*, Vol. 92, No. 1, pp. 363–70.
- Tanzi, Vito, 1995, "Fiscal Federalism and Decentralization: A Review of Some Efficiency and Macroeconomic Aspects," paper presented at the Annual World Bank Conference on Development Economics, Washington.
- ———, 2002, "Pitfalls on the Road to Fiscal Decentralization," in *Managing Fiscal Decentralization*, ed. by Ehtisham Ahmad and Vito Tanzi (London and New York: Routledge).
- Ter-Minassian, Teresa, ed., 1997, Fiscal Federalism in Theory and Practice (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Economic Policy and the Environment (pp. 41-43)

Brett, Craig, and Michael Keen, 2000, "Political Uncertainty and the Earmarking of Environmental Taxes," *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 75, No. 3, pp. 315–40.

- Gupta, Sanjeev, Michael Keen, Benedict Clements, Kevin Fletcher, Luiz de Mello, and Muthukumara Mani, 2002, *Fiscal Dimensions of Sustainable Development*, IMF Pamphlet Series, No. 54 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Kenneth Miranda, and Ian Parry, 1995, "Public Expenditure Policy and the Environment: A Review and Synthesis," *World Development*, Vol. 23, No. 3, pp. 515–28.
- Heller, Peter, and Muthukumara Mani, 2002, "Adapting to Climate Change," *Finance & Development*, Vol. 39 (March), pp. 29–31.
- Herber, Bernard, 1992, "International Environmental Taxation in the Absence of Sovereignty," IMF Working Paper 92/104 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kishor, Nalin, Muthukumara Mani, and Luis Constantino, 2001, "Economic and Environmental Benefits of Eliminating Log Export Bans—The Case of Costa Rica," IMF Working Paper 01/153 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Leruth, Luc, Remi Paris, and Ivan Ruzicka, 2001, "The Complier Pays Principle—The Limits of Fiscal Approaches Toward Sustainable Forest Management," IMF Working Paper 00/51 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Levin, Jonathan, 1991, "Valuation and Treatment of Depletable Resources in the National Accounts," IMF Working Paper 91/73 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1993, "An Analytical Framework of Environmental Issues," IMF Working Paper 93/53 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ligthart, Jenny E., 1998a, "Optimal Fiscal Policy and the Environment," IMF Working Paper 98/146 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 1998b, "The Macroeconomic Effects of Environmental Taxes: A Closer Look at the Feasibility of 'Win–Win' Outcomes," IMF Working Paper 98/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Mani, Muthukumara, 2001, "Greening the Tax System," *IMF Research Bulletin*, Vol. 2 (December), p. 12.
- ——, 2003, "Macroeconomic Aspects of Resource and Environmental Issues," in *Kyrgyz Republic: Selected Issues Paper*, IMF Staff Country Report No. 03/53 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- ——, and Per Frederiksson, 2001a, "Trade Integration and Political Turbulence: Environmental Policy Consequences," IMF Working Paper 01/150 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 2001b, "Rule of Law and the Pattern of Environmental Protection," IMF Working Paper 02/49 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- McMorran, Ronald T., and David C.L. Nellor, 1994, "Tax Policy and the Environment: Theory and Practice," IMF Working Paper 94/106 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Norregaard, John, and Valerie Reppelin, 2000, "Taxes and Tradable Permits as Instruments for Controlling Pollution: Theory and Practice," IMF Working Paper 00/13 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sorsa, Piritta, 1995, "Environmental Protectionism, North–South Trade, and the Uruguay Round," IMF Working Paper 95/6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

Transition in Low-Income Countries (pp. 43-45)

- Bagratian, Hrant, and Emine Gürgen, 1997, "Payments Arrears in the Gas and Electric Power Sectors of the Russian Federation and Ukraine," IMF Working Paper 97/162 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berengaut, Julian, Erik De Vrijer, Katrin C. Elborgh-Woytek, Diane E. Fisher, Mark W. Lewis, and Bogdan Lissovolik, 2002, "An Interim Assessment of Ukrainian Output Developments, 2000–01," IMF Working Paper 02/97 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berengaut, Julian, James Haley, Ghiath Shabsigh, Perry Perone, and Joshua Charap, 1994, *Moldova*, IMF Economic Review No. 12 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Berg, Andrew, Eduardo R. Borensztein, Ratna Sahay, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 1999, "The Evolution of Output in Transition Economies—Explaining the Differences," IMF Working Paper 99/73 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bisat, Amer, 1996, "Ukraine's Gas Arrears: Issues and Recommendations," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 96/3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Black, Stanley W., 2001, "Obstacles to Faster Growth in Transition Economies—The Mongolian Case," IMF Working Paper 01/37 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Blejer, Mario I., Mauro Mecagni, Ratna Sahay, Richard Hides, Barry Johnston, Piroska Nagy, and Roy Pepper, 1992, Albania: From Isolation Toward Reform," IMF Occasional Paper No. 98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bloem, Adrían M., Paul Cotterell, and Terry Gigantes, 1996, "National Accounts in Transition Countries: Distortions and Biases," IMF Working Paper 96/130 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Brown, Scott B., Caryl McNeilly, Paul Mathieu, Caroline Van Rijckeghem, and Reva Kreiger, 1994, *Albania*, IMF Economic Review No. 5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Bruno, Michael, 1992, "Stabilization and Reform in Eastern Europe—A Preliminary Evaluation," IMF Working Paper 92/30 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Buiter, Willem H., 1997, "Aspects of Fiscal Performance in Some Transition Economies Under Fund-Supported Programs," IMF Working Paper 97/31 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo A., and Fabrizio Coricelli, 1992, "Output Collapse in Eastern Europe—The Role of Credit," IMF Working Paper 92/64 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo A., and Jacob A. Frenkel, 1991a, "From Centrally Planned to Market Economies: The Road from CPE to PCPE," IMF Working Paper 91/17 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1991b, "Obstacles to Transforming Centrally Planned Economies—The Role of Capital Markets," IMF Working Paper 91/66 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo A., and Manmohan S. Kumar, 1994, "Money Demand, Bank Credit, and Economic Performance in Former Socialist Economies," IMF Working Paper 94/3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, Eduardo Borensztein, and Paul R. Masson, 1993, *Financial Sector Reforms and Exchange Arrangements in Eastern Europe*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 102 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Calvo, Guillermo A., Ratna Sahay, and Carlos A. Végh, 1995, "Capital Flows in Central and Eastern Europe: Evidence and Policy Options," IMF Working Paper 95/57 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chadha, Bankim, Fabrizio Coricelli, and Kornelia Krajnyák, 1993, "Economic Restructuring, Unemployment, and Growth in a Transition Economy," IMF Working Paper 93/16 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Cheasty, Adrienne, and Jeffrey M. Davis, 1996, "Fiscal Transition in Countries of the Former Soviet Union—An Interim Assessment," IMF Working Paper 96/61 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Chu, Ke-Young, and Sanjeev Gupta, 1996, "Social Protection in Transition Countries: Emerging Issues," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 96/5 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Coorey, Sharmini, Mauro Mecagni, and Erik Offerdal, 1997, "Designing Disinflation Programs in Transition Economies: The Implications of Relative Price Adjustment," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 97/1 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Cornelius, Peter K., and Patrick Lenain, eds., 1996, *Ukraine: Accelerating the Transition to Market* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- De Broeck, Mark, and Torsten Sløk, 2001, "Interpreting Real Exchange Rate Movements in Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/56 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- de Mello, Luiz, 2001, "Fiscal Federalism and Government Size in Transition Economies: The Case of Moldova," *Journal of International Development*, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 255–68.
- Dodsworth, John R., Paul H. Mathieu, and Clinton R. Shiells, 2002, "Cross-Border Issues in Energy Trade in the CIS Countries," Policy Discussion Paper 02/13 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Donovan, Donal, Mario de Zamaróczy, Pierre-Richard Agénor, Jeanine Braithwaite, James Daniel, Bruno de Schaetzen, David Hoelscher, and Pierre de Raet, 1993a, *Georgia*, IMF Economic Review No. 9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Donovan, Donal, Richard Haas, Martin Gilman, Howell Zee, Gonzalo Pastor, Istvan Szalkai, and Regina Llana, 1993b, *Armenia*, IMF Economic Review No. 1 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Donovan, Donal, Abdessatar Ouanes, Kent Osband, Anne-Marie Gulde, Ian McCarthy, Aida Merino, Michael Blackwell, and Shahabuddin Hossain, 1992a, *Moldova*, IMF Economic Review No. 2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Donovan, Donal, Abdessatar Ouanes, Gonzalo Pastor, Martin Gilman, and Pierre-Richard Agénor, 1993c, *Georgia*, IMF Economic Review No. 9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Donovan, Donal, Gonzalo Pastor, Amer Bisat, Ian McCarthy, George Khatchadourian, Michael Blackwell, Mark Lutz, and Dorothy Quelch, 1992b, *Armenia*, IMF Economic Review (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ebrill, Liam, and Oleh Havrylyshyn, 1999, *Tax Reform in the Baltics, Russia, and Other Countries of the Former Soviet Union*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 182 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Elborgh-Woytek, Katrin C., and Mark W. Lewis, 2002, "Privatization in Ukraine: Challenges of Assessment and Coverage in Fund Conditionality," IMF Policy Discussion Paper 02/7 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Federico, Giulio, James Daniel, and Benedict Bingham, 2001, "Domestic Petroleum Price Smoothing in Developing and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Feltenstein, Andrew, 1990, "Fiscal Policy During the Demise of Central Planning—The Transition to a Market Economy," IMF Working Paper 90/92 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Fischer, Stanley, and Ratna Sahay, 2000, "The Transition Economies After Ten Years," IMF Working Paper 00/30 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, and Carlos A.Végh, 1996a, "Stabilization and Growth in Transition Economies—The Early Experience," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 10 (Spring), pp. 45–66.
- ——, 1996b, "Economies in Transition: The Beginnings of Growth," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, Vol. 86, No. 2, pp. 229–33.
- ———, 1998, "From Transition to Market—Evidence and Growth Prospects," IMF Working Paper 98/52 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Flickenschild, Hans M., Emine Gürgen, Mario de Zamaróczy, Marta Castello-Branco, Yuichi Ikeda, and Joslin Landell-Mills, 1992, *Azerbaijan*, IMF Economic Review (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Garibaldi, Pietro, and Zuzana Brixiová, 1998, "Labor Market Institutions and Unemployment Dynamics in Transition Economies," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 45 (June), pp. 269–308.
- Garibaldi, Pietro, Nada Mora, Ratna Sahay, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 2002, "What Moves Capital to Transition Economies?" IMF Working Paper 02/64 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gerhard, Hans, Kenneth Warwick, Marc Quintyn, Koenraad van Der Heeden, Bruno de Schaetzen, Yuzuru Ozeki, and Thomas Walter, 1992, *Tajikistan*, IMF Economic Review (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Ghosh, Atish R., 1996, "The Output-Inflation Nexus in Ukraine—Is There a Trade-Off?" IMF Working Paper 96/46 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1997, "Inflation in Transition Economies: How Much? and Why?" IMF Working Paper 97/80 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Grigorian, David A., and Vlad Manole, 2002, "Determinants of Commercial Bank Performance in Transition: An Application of Data Envelopment Analysis," IMF Working Paper 02/146 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Luc Leruth, Luiz de Mello, and Shamit Chakravarti, 2001, "Transition Economies—How Appropriate Is the Size and Scope of Government?" IMF Working Paper 01/55 (Washington: International Monetary Fund); also forthcoming in *Comparative Economic Studies*.
- Gupta, Sanjeev, Marijn Verhoeven, Erwin Tiongson, 2002, "The Effectiveness of Government Spending on Education and Health Care in Developing and Transition Economies," European Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 717–37.
- Gürgen, Emine, Isaias Coelho, E. Murat Üçer, Joslin Landell-Mills, and Jon D. Craig, 1993, *Azerbaijan*, IMF Economic Review No. 3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gürgen, Emine, Isaias Coelho, David Robinson, Rupert Thorne, and Mete Durdag, 1994, *Azerbaijan*, IMF Economic Review No. 9 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Gürgen, Emine, Harry Snoek, Jon Craig, Jimmy McHugh, Ivailo Izvorski, and Ron van Rooden, 1999, *Economic Reforms in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 183 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Haley, James, and Ghiath Shabsigh, 1994, "Monitoring Financial Stabilization in Moldova: The Role of Monetary Policy, Institutional Factors and Statistical Anomalies," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 94/25 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Halpern, Laszlo, and Charles Wyplosz, 1996, "Equilibrium Exchange Rates in Transition Economies," IMF Working Paper 96/125 (Washington: International Monetary Fund)
- Haque, Nadeem U., and Ratna Sahay, 1996, "Do Government Wage Cuts Close Budget Deficits? A Conceptual Framework for Develop-

- ing Countries and Transition Economies," IMF Working Paper 96/19 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylshyn, Oleh, 1997, "Ukraine: Looking East, Looking West," *Harriman Review*, Vol. 10, No. 3.
- ——, forthcoming, "What Makes Ukraine Not Grow?" in *Political, Economic and Historical Factors That Hamper Economic Growth in Conference Proceedings, Problems of Development of Ukraine*, ed. by Vsevolod Isajiw and Ovest Subtelny, forthcoming.
- ——, Ivailo Izvorski, and Ron van Rooden, 1999, "Growth in Transition Economies 1990–97: An Econometric Analysis with Application to Ukraine," in *Ukraine at the Crossroads*, ed. by Axel Siedenberg and Lutz Hoffmann (Heidelberg: Springer Verlag).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Donal McGettigan, 1999a, "Privatization in Transition Countries—A Sampling of the Literature," IMF Working Paper 99/6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ——, 1999b, "Privatization in Transition Countries: Lessons from the First Decade," *Economic Issues*, No. 18 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylshyn, Oleh, Marcus Miller, and William Perraudin, 1994, "Deficits, Inflation and the Political Economy of Ukraine," *Economic Policy* (October) (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Saleh M. Nsouli, 2001, "A Decade of Transition: Achievements and Challenges," Proceedings of a conference held in Washington, February, 1999 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, and Ron van Rooden, 2000, "Institutions Matter in Transition, But So Do Policies," IMF Working Paper 00/70 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Havrylyshyn, Oleh, Thomas Wolf, Julian Berengaut, Marta Castello-Branco, Ron van Rooden, and Valerie Mercer-Blackman, 2000, *Growth Experience in Transition Countries, 1990–98*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 184 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Heller, Peter S., and Christian Keller, 2001, "Social Sector Reform in Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/35 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hernández-Catá, Ernesto, 1997, "Liberalization and the Behavior of Output During the Transition from Plan to Market," IMF Working Paper 97/53 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Holden, Paul, and Vassili Prokopenko, 2001, "Financial Development and Poverty Alleviation: Issues and Policy Implications for Developing and Transition Countries," IMF Working Paper 01/160 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hole, Peter, Hugh Bredenkamp, Joshua Felman, Erik Offerdal, Rolando Ossowski, Holger Schmiedling, and Alexander Sundakov, 1993, *Ukraine*, IMF Economic Review (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hole, Peter, Adrienne Cheasty, Juan José Fernández-Ansola, Atish Ghosh, Patrick Lenain, Rolando Ossowski, and Alexander Sundakov, 1994, *Ukraine*, IMF Economic Review No. 17 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hole, Peter, Henri Lorie, Hugh Bredenkamp, Piero Ugolini, Jaime Jaramillo-Vallejo, Balazs Horvath, Juan Amieva, Anthony Richards, and Rocio Arévalo, 1992, *Ukraine*, IMF Economic Review No. 10 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Holzmann, Robert S., 1991, "Budgetary Subsidies in Centrally Planned Economies in Transition," IMF Working Paper 91/11 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Horváth, Balázs, Juan Amieva, Anthony Richards, and Rocio Arévalo, 1992, *Ukraine*, IMF Economic Review (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Horváth, Balázs, Nita Thacker, and Ziming Ha, 1998, "Achieving Stabilization in Armenia," IMF Working Paper 98/38 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Hougaard Jensen, Svend E., Tobias N. Rasmussen, and Thomas F. Rutherford, 2002, "Economic Transition, Entrepreneurial Capacity, and Intergenerational Distribution," IMF Working Paper 02/180 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Husain, Aasim M., and Ratna Sahay, 1992, "Does Sequencing of Privatization Matter in Reforming Planned Economies?" IMF Working Paper 92/13 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- International Monetary Fund, Fiscal Affairs Department, Expenditure Policy Division, 1995, "Social Safety Nets for Economic Transition—Options and Recent Experiences," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 95/3 (Washington).
- Jarvis, Chris, 1999, "The Rise and Fall of the Pyramid Schemes in Albania," IMF Working Paper 99/98 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Kapur, Ishan, Sami Geadah, Daniel Hewitt, Peter Allum, Marta Castello-Branco, and Phillip Israilevich, 1992a, *Kyrghyzstan*, IMF Economic Review, (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kapur, Ishan, Sami Geadah, Yoshio Okubo, Walter R. Ahler, Ruth Lituma, and Subhash Thakur, 1992b, *Uzbekistan*, IMF Economic Review, (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Kapur, Ishan, Graeme Justice, Mark Horton, Istvan Szalkai, Nur Calika, and Edgardo Ruggerio, 1994, *Uzbekistan*, IMF Economic Review No. 4 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Keller, Peter M., Isaias Coelho, Jenaro Simpson, L. Effie Psalida, Susan Creane, and Alexander Bakastov, 1994, *Tajikistan*, IMF Economic Review No. 14 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Klyuev, Vladimir, 2001, "A Model of Exchange Rate Regime Choice in the Transitional Economies of Central and Eastern Europe," IMF Working Paper 01/140 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 2002, "Exchange Rate Regime Choice in Central and Eastern European Transitional Economies," *Comparative Economic Studies*, Vol. 44, No. 4, pp. 85–118.
- Koen, Vincent, and Paula De Masi, 1997, "Prices in the Transition: Ten Stylized Facts," *Staff Studies for the World Economic Outlook*, IMF World Economic and Financial Surveys (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Milne, Elizabeth, John Lemoine, Franek Rozwadowski, Padej Sukachevin, 1991, *The Mongolian People's Republic: Toward a Market Economy*, IMF Occasional Paper No. 79 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Ouanes, Abdessatar, Michael Blackwell, Jeanine Braithwaite, Timothy Muzondo, Rakia Moalla-Fetini, and E. Murat Üçer, 1993, *Moldova*, IMF Economic Review No. 2 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pastor, Gonzalo C., and Amer Bisat, 1993, "Armenia: Reform and Growth in Agriculture," IMF Paper on Policy Analysis and Assessment 93/3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pastor, Gonzalo C., and Tatiana Damjanovic, 2001, "The Russian Financial Crisis and Its Consequences for Central Asia," IMF Working Paper 01/169 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Paull, Gillian, 1991, "Poverty Alleviation and Social Safety Net Schemes for Economies in Transition," IMF Working Paper 91/14 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Petri, Martin, Gunther Taube, and Aleh Tsyvinski, 2002, "Energy Sector Quasi-Fiscal Activities in the Countries of the Former Soviet Union," IMF Working Paper 02/60 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Pivovarsky, Alexander, 2003, "Ownership Concentration and Performance in Ukraine's Privatized Enterprises," *IMF Staff Papers*, Vol. 50, No. 1, pp. 10–42.
- Purfield, Catriona M., 2003, "Fiscal Adjustment in Transition Countries: Evidence from the 1990s," IMF Working Paper 03/36 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rosenberg, Christoph B., and Maarten de Zeeuw, 2000, "Welfare Effects of Uzbekistan's Foreign Exchange Regime," IMF Working Paper 00/61 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rosenberg, Christoph, Anna Ruocco, and Wolfgang Wiegard, 2000, "Explicit and Implicit Taxation in Uzbekistan," in *Herausforderungen* an die Wirtschaftspolitik zum 21. Jahrhundert, ed. by Irmgard Nübler, and Harald Trabold (Festschrift für Lutz Hoffman zum 65. Geburtstag, Berlin: Duncker und Humboldt).
- Rosenberg, Christoph B., and Tapio Saavalainen, 1998, "How to Deal with Azerbaijan's Oil Boom? Policy Strategies in a Resource-Rich Transition Economy," IMF Working Paper 98/6 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Rother, Philipp, 2000, "Inflation in Albania," IMF Working Paper 00/207 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sahay, Ratna, and Carlos A. Végh, 1995, "Dollarization in Transition Economies: Evidence and Policy Implications," IMF Working Paper 95/96 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, 1996, "Inflation and Stabilization in Transition Economies: An Analytical Interpretation and Evidence," *Journal of Policy Reform*, Vol. 1, pp. 75–108.
- Shadman-Valavi, Mohammad, David Andrews, Tsidi Tsikata, Mark O'Brien, Alejandro Santos, Nancy Wagner, and Geoffrey Walton, 1995, *Georgia*, IMF Economic Review No. 15 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Shadman-Valavi, Mohammad, Andrew Berg, Paul Ross, Bruno de Schaetzen, Francesco Mongelli, and Gonzalo Pastor, 1994a, *Armenia*, IMF Economic Review No. 19 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).

- Shadman-Valavi, Mohammad, Thanos Catsambas, Gary Barinshtein, Carlos Piñerúa, Jeanine Braithwaite, Marina Primorac, Mohammed Tareem, and David Orsmond, 1994b, *Turkmenistan*, IMF Economic Review No. 3 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Shiells, Clinton R., 2002, "Imperfect Competition and the Design of VAT Regimes: The Case of Energy Trade between Russia and Ukraine," IMF Working Paper 02/235 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sløk, Torsten, 2000, "Monetary Policy in Transition—The Case of Mongolia," IMF Working Paper 00/21 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Spencer, Michael G., and Hans J. Blommestein, 1993, "The Role of Financial Institutions in the Transition to a Market Economy," IMF Working Paper 93/75 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Sundakov, Alexander, Rolando Ossowski, and Timothy D. Lane, 1994, "Shortages Under Free Prices: The Case of Ukraine in 1992," *Staff Papers*, International Monetary Fund, Vol. 41.
- Tanzi, Vito, ed., 1992, Fiscal Policies in Economies in Transition (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- ———, ed., 1993, *Transition to Market: Studies in Fiscal Reform* (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Taube, Günther, and Jeromin Zettelmeyer, 1998, "Output Decline and Recovery in Uzbekistan—Past Performance and Future Prospects," IMF Working Paper 98/132 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).
- Van Rijckeghem, Caroline, 1994, "Albania—Income Distribution, Poverty and Social Safety Nets in the Transition, 1991–93," IMF Working Paper 94 (Washington: International Monetary Fund).